212 Carnegie Center, 3rd Floor Princeton, NJ 08540 609 520 2985 Fax 609 520 2998 richard.lino@oliverwyman.com www.oliverwyman.com

VIRGINIA BIRTH-RELATED NEUROLOGICAL INJURY COMPENSATION PROGRAM

2009 ANNUAL REPORT

INCLUDING PROJECTIONS FOR

PROGRAM YEARS 2009 - 2011

Report to: State Corporation Commission Bureau of Insurance Commonwealth of Virginia

Prepared by:

Richard A. Lino, FCAS, MAAA Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

October 2009

OLIVER WYMAN

VIRGINIA BIRTH-RELATED NEUROLOGICAL INJURY COMPENSATION PROGRAM

2009 ANNUAL REPORT INCLUDING PROJECTIONS FOR

PROGRAM YEARS 2009 - 2011

Report to: State Corporation Commission Bureau of Insurance Commonwealth of Virginia

October 2009

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc. 212 Carnegie Center, 3rd Floor Princeton, NJ 08540

609 520 2985

Contents

DISCUSSION Introduction Actuarial Standards of Practice Acknowledgement of Qualifications	1 1 3 3
Introduction Actuarial Standards of Practice	1 1 3 3
Actuarial Standards of Practice	1 3 3
	3 3
	3
Findings	
Changes in Methodology and Assumptions	
Comments	
Loss Reserving Methodology	
MAJOR FINDINGS	
RECOMMENDATIONS	
METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS	18
INTRODUCTION	18
CLAIM PAYMENTS	
Nursing	
Hospital/Physician	
Incidental	
Housing	
Vans	
Lost Wages	
Physical Therapy	
Medical Equipment	
Prescription Drugs	
Legal	
Insurance	
Medical Review/Intake	
OTHER ASSUMPTIONS	
Inflation	
Interest Rate	
Mortality	
HMOs versus non-HMOs	
Number of Group C Claims	
Group C Average Values	
Claimants Who Are Deceased at the Time of Acceptance	
Future Claim Administration Expenses	52
Changes in Utilization	
Assessment Income	
Methodology	57
Number of Claimants	57
Estimated Future Costs of Group A Claimants	
Medicaid Waivers	
Estimated Future Costs of Group B Claimants	
Method for Estimating Future Costs of Group B and Group C Claimants	

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

State Corporation Commission Bureau of Insurance

General Administration Expenses (Other Than Claim Administration)	
Forecasts of Program's Financial Position Through 2011	
JULY 1, 2003 LEGISLATION – REVISITED	65
JULY 1, 2004 LEGISLATION – REVISITED	66
JULY 1, 2006 LEGISLATION	67
JULY 1, 2008 LEGISLATION: "DE NOVO" REVIEW (SENATE BILL NO. 212)	68
JULY 1, 2008 LEGISLATION: SENATE BILL NO. 211 AND HOUSE BILL NO. 1305	69
Sensitivity Testing	70
Inflation	70
Interest Rate	72
Mortality	73
Percentage of Insured Claimants Who Have HMO Coverage	74
Nursing	74
Hospital/Physician, Medical Equipment, Incidental, and Prescription Drugs	75
Housing, Vans, Lost Wages, Legal, Insurance, Medical Review/Intake	
Numbers of Eligible Claimants	76
BACKGROUND	78
General	78
HISTORY OF FUNDING	79
Participating Physicians and Hospitals	79
Non-Participating Physicians and Liability Insurers	80
ELIGIBILITY	
HISTORY OF ACTUARIAL STUDIES	82
LIMITATIONS AND CAVEATS	

APPENDIX A APPENDIX B

Major Findings and Recommendations

Discussion

Introduction

This is the 2009 report of Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc. ("Oliver Wyman"), to the Commonwealth of Virginia, State Corporation Commission, Bureau of Insurance ("SCC") regarding the adequacy of the funding of the Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program (the "Program"). This report provides our evaluation of the actuarial soundness of the Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Fund (the "Fund") as of December 31, 2008, and our forecasts of the actuarial soundness of the Fund as of each subsequent year-end through December 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2007, there were 134 admitted claimants of whom 97 had been in the Program for at least three years. As of December 31, 2008, there were 142 admitted claimants, of whom 111 had been in the Program for three or more years. Therefore, the amount of information on payments made by the Program on behalf of individual claimants continues to grow and increase in statistical credibility from one year to the next.

This current study is based on a detailed analysis of payments made on behalf of each of the 111 claimants who had been in the Program for three or more years as of December 31, 2008.

Actuarial Standards of Practice

This actuarial report complies with relevant Actuarial Standards of Practice promulgated by the Actuarial Standards Board unless otherwise noted. The Actuarial Standards Board publishes standards of practice for the United States' actuarial profession. Among other things, these

standards of practice require the identification of the types of estimates that are provided in actuarial reports.

Our estimates of the financial position of the Fund, including the estimates of future claim payments and claims administration expenses (or simply future claim costs), as of December 31, 2008 and subsequent year-ends are prepared for the sole use of the SCC for the purpose of evaluating the actuarial soundness of the Fund. Our estimates of claims administration expenses excludes general administration expenses, which we define as that portion of salaries, rents, costs of office equipment, and all other expenses not directly related to claims. Our estimates are based on claims data evaluated as of December 31, 2008 and additional information (and only that information that was provided to us) provided through September 29, 2009, as well as on external data and assumptions that we believe are appropriate for the type of expenses incurred by the Program.

Our estimates of the Fund's future claim costs, which we refer to as "expected value" estimates throughout this report, are intended to represent actuarial central estimates which, consistent with the applicable standard of practice, we define as the expected value over the range of reasonably possible (as opposed to all possible) outcomes. We note that the use of reasonable alternative assumptions could have a material effect on the estimates of future claim costs. In the Sensitivity Testing section of this report, we provide the impact on our estimates resulting from changes in selected assumptions.

We present these future claim cost estimates on a discounted, or "present value," basis throughout this report. Our present value estimates are on a basis that reflects the time value of money. That is, our estimates consider that future claim costs will be paid over a period of years and that investment income will be earned on the underlying assets. These estimates also include a specific estimate of the impact of inflation on future costs, which is generally unchanged from last year. Our estimates of the discounted future claim costs are based on an annual interest rate of 6.58%, which is also generally unchanged from last year. Our estimates are also presented net of subrogation (to the extent captured in the historical claims data).

Acknowledgement of Qualifications

I, Richard A. Lino, am a Principal with Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc. I am a Fellow of the Casualty Actuarial Society, a member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and I meet the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion contained herein.

Findings

In our "2008 Report" (findings presented in our report dated October 2008), we forecasted that the Fund would have an outstanding liability of \$354.0 million and a deficit of \$130.9 million as of December 31, 2008. In this current study we estimate that the Fund had an outstanding liability of \$341.4 million and a deficit of \$168.9 million as of December 31, 2008. The main reason for the \$38.0 million increase in the estimated deficit is that total assets as of December 31, 2008 were \$50.5 million lower than we had forecast primarily due to (a) an actual investment loss of 21.00% on managed assets as compared to a forecast yield (from our 2008 Study) of 6.84%, and (b) claim payments during 2008 were below our forecast, which partially offset the investment loss.

Changes in Methodology and Assumptions

We have made several changes to aspects of our methodology and to assumptions, as compared to our 2008 Study, to reflect the experience that has since emerged and recent legislative changes as described below:

• We have revised the "baseline" mortality table, increasing the estimated life expectancies of the claimants in the Program, which raises our estimates of future claim payments as of

December 31, 2008 by \$14.9 million. We discuss this change further in the Mortality Assumption section of the report starting on page 43.

- We refined our approach to applying the nursing utilization trend by lowering the minimum annual nursing costs to \$10,000 (from \$36,338 in the 2008 Study). We made this change since our review of trends in nursing utilization suggests that claimants take longer to reach the minimum level used in the 2008 Study. This review of trends also suggests an annual utilization trend of 2.0% as compared to the 1.0% utilization trend we had assumed in the 2008 Study. In this study, we also introduce an annual maximum future nursing cost equal to \$400,000 at 2008 cost levels, which is approximately the maximum annual nursing costs for any claimant since the inception of the Program (adjusted to 2008 cost levels). The net impact of these changes, in combination with the lower average nursing expenses for Group A claimants (see the Claim Payments section for definition of Group A claimants) in 2008 is to decrease our estimates of future claim payments by \$19.8 million. We discuss this change further in the Changes in Utilization section of the report starting on page 52 and the nursing section starting on page 27.
- Our estimates of future claims administration expenses decreased by \$1.9 million primarily due to actual claims administration expenses being lower than forecast. We discuss this change further in the Future Claims Administration Expense section of the report starting on page 52.

All of our assumptions are discussed in detail in the section of this report titled Method and Assumptions.

Comments

As stated above, the claims experience of the Program is becoming increasingly credible. Nevertheless, our estimates are still subject to significant uncertainty:

- The Program started in 1988, and as of December 31, 2008, there are now 28 living claimants who are 16 years of age or older, 21 of whom have attained the age of 17. Thus, there is limited claim payment experience for claimants over the age of 16 upon which to base our forecasts of future payments for the period in which claimants are 16 and older. Also, only 111 total claimants had been in the Program for three or more years as of December 31, 2008. Further, there is considerable variability in the actual payments that have been made to the 142 claimants admitted as of December 31, 2008.
- In addition, other factors could have a significant impact on future claim payments. For example, there may be changes in the way the Program is operated in the future, the degree to which claimants utilize the services of the Program, and the coverage provided by private health insurance and Medicaid, which are the claimants' primary funding sources. In addition, actual rates of inflation and interest may differ significantly from the long-term rates that we assume for our forecast.
- We note that the recent financial crisis has resulted in investment returns that are significantly below the expected long-term averages, as mentioned above. Further, we note that the outlook for inflation and investment returns in the foreseeable future is unclear at best. Nevertheless, we have been advised that the Fund's investment manager still expects to achieve a 6.8% return over the long-term. In our estimates, we assume that investment returns will be 3.50% above our long-term general inflation assumption, which results in a similar return (6.85%). However, we note that the relationship between inflation and investment returns could vary significantly over the next five to ten years. For example, an inflationary environment could lead to below average returns for both stocks and bonds during this timeframe. If this were to occur, the Fund's actual deficits could vary significantly from our estimates.

The impact of these factors on our estimates is discussed further in the Sensitivity Testing section of this report. We expect to continue to refine our estimates as the experience of the Program unfolds, and these future refinements could have a significant impact on future estimates of the financial soundness of the Fund.

Major Findings and Recommendations Discussion

Consistent with our past reports, we interpret the Program's future payment obligations as of December 31, 2008 to consist of future claim payments associated with all claimants with birth dates on or before December 31, 2008, *regardless of whether they have been admitted as of December 31*, 2008. Therefore, we estimate the liabilities associated with the 142 admitted claimants (Table 1, column (2)), *as of December 31*, 2008, as well as those associated with what we estimate to be 48 not-yet-admitted claimants (Table 1, column (2)) *as of December 31*, 2008 are those claimants with birth dates on or before December 31, 2008 who had not yet been admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2008, but whom we estimate will eventually be admitted to the Program.

We note that numbers in this report are subject to differences due to rounding.

Loss Reserving Methodology

In compliance with House Bill No. 1305 and Senate Bill No. 211, in the Appendix B to this report we discuss the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association loss reserving methodology to account for individual participant costs and injury characteristics.

The Program has now provided life expectancy and Life Plan estimates by individual claimant. We discuss this information in Appendix B.

Major Findings

Following are our major findings.

1. **Finding**: We find that, as of December 31, 2008, the Fund was not actuarially sound and had a "Grand Total" deficit of about \$168.9 million. By this, we mean that the present value of estimated future claim payments for children born on or prior to December 31, 2008, plus the present value of estimated future claim administration expenses associated with making those claim payments, exceeded the Fund's assets by about \$168.9 million. (The present value represents the amount of assets that would need to be invested as of December 31, 2008 to pay the claimant expenses as they become due in the future.) We have used the same definition of actuarial soundness in each of our reports since 1992: if the estimated future payment obligations exceed the Fund's assets, the Fund is deemed to be actuarially unsound.

Our estimate of the Fund's financial position as of December 31, 2008, is shown in Table 1, which follows.

TABLE 1

Estimated Financial Position as of 12/31/08 (\$ in millions, on a present value basis)					
Summary <u>Claimant Status</u> (1)	Estimated Ultimate Number of <u>Claimants</u> (2)	Baseline Estimate of Future Claim <u>Payments</u> (3)	Estimate of Future Claims Administration <u>Expenses</u> (4)	Value of Total <u>Assets</u> (5)	Forecasted Surplus/ (Deficit) [(5)-(3)-(4)] (6)
All Claimants Admitted to the Program	142	(3) \$223.7	\$10.5	(3)	(0)
All Claimants Not Yet Admitted to the Program	48	\$102.4	\$4.8		
Grand Total	190	\$326.1	\$15.3	\$172.5	(\$168.9)

The following discussion of the results in Table 1 focuses on the "Grand Total" line. In our discussion of our projections in Tables 1 through Table 4, all references to admitted claimants include those claimants whom we project will receive the one-time award of up to \$100,000. In our 2008 Report, we presented the number of claimants receiving the one-time

\$100,000 award in Table 1 on a separate row. (In this report, we provide these counts in the section related to the July 1, 2003 Legislation Revisited starting on page 65.) The \$100,000 award was implemented as part of this July 1, 2003 Legislation discussed later, and is awarded to claimants born on or after July 1, 2003 who are deceased at the time of acceptance and did not live longer than 180 days.

Table 1 shows that, as of December 31, 2008, we estimate the Program had obligations for future claim payments ("Grand Total" of \$326.1 million on a present value basis) and for future claim administration expenses ("Grand Total" of \$15.3 million on a present value basis) that exceeded the Program's assets ("Grand Total" of \$172.5 million) by approximately \$168.9 million.

Column 2 of Table 1 shows that, as of December 31, 2008, we estimate the Program had a "Grand Total" of 190 claimants. These 190 claimants consist of 142 claimants (including 3 who qualified as "De Novo" claimants) who had been admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2008 and an estimated additional 48 claimants (including 0 who are likely to qualify as "De Novo" claimants) born on or before December 31, 2008 who had not yet been admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2008. Most claimants do not apply to the Program, and are not admitted to the Program, until two to three years after birth. The average age that the admitted claimants had attained when they were admitted to the Program was 4.7 years, an increase from an average of 4.5 years last year. We note that 51 of the 142 admitted claimants were admitted to the Program after they had attained the age of five.

Column 3 of Table 1 shows our baseline estimates of the present value of future claim payments for the estimated admitted and not-yet-admitted claimants born on or before December 31, 2008. This is our baseline estimate, meaning that it is our "central" estimate, consistent with the way we have measured the actuarial soundness of the Fund in our past reports. The baseline estimates lie within a range of possible outcomes; in other words, the present value of future claim payments could turn out to be significantly higher or lower than our estimate. This is discussed in more detail in the Sensitivity Testing section of this report.

Our estimates of future claim payments are on a present value basis, as of December 31, 2008. Presenting our estimates of future claim payments on a present value basis is consistent with our prior reports. The present value represents the amount that would need to be invested as of December 31, 2008 to make the claim payments as they become due. Throughout this report, discussions of future claim payments are on a present value basis unless otherwise indicated.

Column 4 of Table 1 shows our estimates of future administration expenses that are associated with the payment of the claims for the 190 claimants (admitted and not-yet-admitted) as of December 31, 2008 (see the section on Future Claim Administration Expenses on page 52 for a description of these expenses).

Column 5 of Table 1 shows our estimates of the value of the Fund's total assets as of December 31, 2008.

Column 6 of Table 1 shows that our estimates of the Fund's "Grand Total" assets as of December 31, 2008 is \$168.9 million less than the sum of our estimates of the Program's future claim payments and future claim administration expenses.

In summary, we estimate that, as of December 31, 2008, the Fund was not actuarially sound and had a "Grand Total" deficit of about \$168.9 million. Our estimates of the present value of future claim payments for children born on or prior to December 31, 2008, plus our estimate of the present value of future claim administration expenses, exceeds the Fund's assets by about \$168.9 million.

In our 2008 Report, we included a "Grand Total" forecast of the financial results as of December 31, 2008. A comparison of that "Grand Total" estimate to our current "Grand Total" estimate as of December 31, 2008 is given below:

Number of Claimants: In our 2008 Study, we forecasted that there would be 191 claimants as of December 31, 2008, of whom 150 would be admitted and 41 would be not-yet-admitted. Our current estimate is that there were 190 claimants as of December 31, 2008, of whom 142 are admitted and 48 are not yet admitted. Note that 3 of the admitted claimants

and 0 of the not yet admitted claimants are a result of the "De Novo" legislation. The decrease in total claimants from 191 (forecast) to 190 (actual) is due to reduction in the expected number of claimants eligible for the \$100,000 award (see July 1, 2003 Legislation Revisited starting on page 65); this difference does not have a material impact on our forecast of future claim payments.

- Baseline Estimate of Future Claim Payments: In our 2008 Report, we forecasted that there would be \$336.8 million of future claim payments associated with the 191 claimants as of December 31, 2008. Our current estimate is that there were \$326.1 million of future claim payments associated with the 190 claimants as of December 31, 2008. This decrease is primarily due to a reduction in our estimates of future nursing costs that was partially offset by an increase due to the change in mortality table.
- Estimate of Future Claim Administration Expenses: In our 2008 Study, we forecasted that there would be \$17.2 million of future claim administration expense payments associated with the 191 claimants as of December 31, 2008. Our current estimate is that there will be \$15.3 million of future claim administration payments associated with the 190 claimants as of December 31, 2008 (see page 52 for a discussion of estimated Future Claim Administration Expenses).
- Value of Total Assets: In our 2008 Study, we forecasted that the Fund would have assets of \$223.1 million as of December 31, 2008. The actual value of assets as of December 31, 2008, based on audited financial statements, was \$172.5 million. The difference, \$50.5 million, is due primarily to the fact that the Fund investments lost 21.00% of their value during 2008 as compared to the forecasted return of 6.84%. This adverse result was partially offset by 2008 claim payments being less than forecasted.
- Forecasted Surplus/ (Deficit): In our 2008 Study, we forecasted that the Fund would have a "Grand Total" deficit of \$130.9 million as of December 31, 2008. Our current estimate is that the Fund had a "Grand Total" deficit of \$168.9 million as of December 31, 2008.

Major Findings and Recommendations Major Findings

2. **Finding**: We forecast that the Fund will not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2009, and will have a "Grand Total" deficit of about \$176.5 million. This is shown in Table 2, which follows.

Referring to Table 2, Column 2, we estimate that the total number of claimants as of December 31, 2009 will be 200. This is an increase of 10 claimants from the total number of claimants that we estimate as of December 31, 2008, and reflects our forecast that each year 10 children will be born who will eventually be admitted to the Program. Although the total number of claimants is most important, we have also shown that our estimate of claimants consists of 151 claimants whom we estimate will have been admitted into the Program as of December 31, 2009 and 49 claimants born on or before December 31, 2009 whom we estimate will not yet have been admitted into the Program as of December 31, 2009.

The estimated number of claimants that will have been admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2009, shown as 151 in Column 2, represents the 142 claimants who were admitted prior to December 31, 2008, as indicated in Table 1, plus an additional 9 claimants (including an estimate of 0 claimants qualified under the "De Novo" review) whom we estimate will be admitted to the Program during 2009. Our forecast of these additional 9 claimants excluding claimants admitted based on a "De Novo" review is consistent with the recent numbers of admissions (10 in 2004, 13 in 2005, 9 in 2006, 13 in 2007, excluding 2 claimants admitted due to the "De Novo" review). As discussed later, the deadline for "De Novo" applications was July 1, 2009 and there are no outstanding applications as of this date.

Major Findings and Recommendations Major Findings

TABLE 2

Estimated Financial Position as of 12/31/09 (\$ in millions, on a present value basis)

Summary <u>Claimant Status</u> (1)	Estimated Ultimate Number of <u>Claimants</u> (2)	Baseline Estimate of Future Claim <u>Payments</u> (3)	Estimate of Future Claims Administration <u>Expenses</u> (4)	Value of Total <u>Assets</u> (5)	Forecasted Surplus/ (Deficit) [(5)-(3)-(4)] (6)
All Claimants Admitted to the Program	151	\$243.9	\$11.4		
All Claimants Not Yet Admitted to the Program	49	\$108.9	\$5.1		
Grand Total	200	\$352.7	\$16.5	\$192.7	(\$176.5)

3. **Finding**: We forecast that the Fund will remain in a deficit position and that the "Grand Total" deficit will grow to \$186.8 million at the end of 2010, and to \$197.3 million at the end of 2011. This is shown in Tables 3 and 4, which follow.

TABLE 3

Estimated Financial Position as of 12/31/10 (\$ in millions, on a present value basis)

Summary <u>Claimant Status</u> (1)	Estimated Ultimate Number of <u>Claimants</u> (2)	Baseline Estimate of Future Claim <u>Payments</u> (3)	Estimate of Future Claims Administration <u>Expenses</u> (4)	Value of Total <u>Assets</u> (5)	Forecasted Surplus/ (Deficit) [(5)-(3)-(4)] (6)
All Claimants Admitted to the Program	162	\$268.2	\$12.4		
All Claimants Not Yet Admitted to the Program	48	\$113.7	\$5.3		
Grand Total	210	\$381.9	\$17.7	\$212.8	(\$186.8)

Referring to Table 3, Column 2, we estimate that the total number of claimants as of December 31, 2010 will be 210. This is an increase of 10 claimants from the total number of claimants that we estimate there will be as of December 31, 2009, and reflects our forecast that each year 10 children will be born who will eventually be admitted to the Program. Although the total number of claimants is most important, we have also shown that our estimates of claimants consist of 162 claimants whom we estimate will have been admitted into the Program as of

ŀ

Major Findings and Recommendations Major Findings

December 31, 2010 and 48 claimants born on or before December 31, 2010 whom we estimate will not yet have been admitted into the Program as of December 31, 2010.

The number of claimants admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2010, shown as 162 in Column 2, consists of the 151 claimants whom we estimate will have been admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2009 (See Table 2), plus an additional 11 claimants whom we forecast will be admitted to the Program during 2010. The number of claimants not yet admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2010, shown as 48 in Column 2, is the difference between the estimated total number of claimants (210) and the estimated number of admitted claimants (162).

TABLE 4

Estimated Financial Position as of 12/31/11 (\$ in millions, on a present value basis)

Summary <u>Claimant Status</u> (1)	Estimated Ultimate Number of <u>Claimants</u> (2)	Baseline Estimate of Future Claim <u>Payments</u> (3)	Estimate of Future Claims Administration <u>Expenses</u> (4)	Value of Total <u>Assets</u> (5)	Forecasted Surplus/ (Deficit) [(5)-(3)-(4)] (6)
All Claimants Admitted to the Program	172	\$294.6	\$13.6		
All Claimants Not Yet Admitted to the Program	48	\$118.5	\$5.4		
Grand Total	220	\$413.1	\$19.0	\$234.8	(\$197.3)

Table 4 is similar to Table 3, except that it shows our forecast of the Fund's financial position as of December 31, 2011. Note that the forecasted change in deficit from \$168.9 million as of December 31, 2008 to \$197.3 million as of December 31, 2011 represents an increase of approximately \$9 million per year. This compares to the forecasted annual increase in the deficit of approximately \$7 million per year from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2010 presented in our 2008 Report. This deterioration in the annual increase in the deficit beyond 2008 is due to the increase in the deficit as of December 31, 2008 as compared to the forecasted deficit.

Major Findings and Recommendations Major Findings

Referring to Table 4, Column 2, we estimate that the total number of claimants as of December 31, 2011 will be 220, an increase of 10 over the prior year, representing the children that we forecast will be born in 2011 and eventually admitted into the Program.

The number of claimants admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2011, shown as 172 in Column 2 of Table 4, consists of the 162 claimants whom we estimate will have been admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2010 (See Table 3) plus an additional 10 claimants that we forecast will be admitted to the Program during 2011. The estimated number of claimants not yet admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2011, shown as 48 in Column 2, is the difference between the estimated total number of claimants (220) and the estimated number of admitted claimants (172).

As noted above, the projected Fund deficit increases by approximately \$9 million per year, on average from 2008 to 2011. There are two primary factors that cause this increase: (1) the deficit increases by approximately \$12 million per year due to what we refer to as "forgone investment income," that is, the investment income that would have been earned had the Fund been fully funded as of year-end 2008¹; (2) the deficit decreases by approximately \$3 million per year because the projected assessments for the years 2009 to 2011 are higher than the present value of projected future costs of new claimants arising out of births during the years 2009 to 2011.

However, since there are no further legislated increases in assessments on hospitals and nonparticipating physicians beyond 2010 and no increases on participating physicians beyond 2012, as shown in Exhibit 2 of Appendix A, we anticipate that the annual increases in the deficit will rise by more than \$12 million per year annually in 2012 and beyond as inflation in costs exceeds the increase in assessments.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

¹ The amount of "forgone investment income" actually increases every year as the deficit increases. The \$12 million is the average annual amount of "forgone investment income" over the years 2008 – 2011.

4. **Finding**: The Fund is not in any immediate danger of defaulting on the payment of benefits. In other words, although the Fund is not actuarially sound, it has sufficient assets to continue to pay for existing claimants' benefits for at least 20 years.

The Fund's current assets are relatively large compared to current and expected future annual claim payments in the near term. The Program paid \$10.8 million to claimants during 2008. The \$10.8 million in actual payments made for the full year of 2008 was higher than the \$9.2 million in actual payments made for the full year of 2007 and higher than the \$10.5 million in actual payments made for the full year of 2007. During the first six months of 2009, the Program paid \$4.2 million to claimants. Note that for the last several years payments were significantly higher during the second half of the year.

We forecast that the current assets of the Fund are sufficient to cover the claim payments of admitted claimants for many years, given the historical payments actually paid by the Fund. Specifically, we forecast that if the Fund continues to collect the assessments currently prescribed by the July 1, 2004 and the July 1, 2008 legislation and, if the level of participation of physicians and hospitals remains constant at the 2008 levels, the Fund will be able to continue to make claim payments for all claimants, including those admitted after December 31, 2008 (even if those claimants are born after December 31, 2008), for at least the next 20 years (that is, through the year 2028).

5. **Finding:** As discussed in Appendix B in more detail, the Program has developed and provided life expectancy and Life Plan estimates for each claimant currently receiving care benefits as we had recommended in our 2008 Report and previous reports. The life expectancy information provided by its consultant, Robert Shavelle, PhD., FAACPDM, offers valuable insight into the prospective life expectancy for claimants, especially for those claimants who reach age 20 and above, for whom the experience within the Program is limited. We find that use of Dr. Shavelle's life expectancies would not produce materially different estimates from the estimates we present in this report. We also find that the Life Plan estimates provided by the Program confirm the reasonableness of our current "life plan" estimates.

Recommendations

Following are our recommendations.

- **1. Recommendation**: We recommend that the Program continue to assess participating and non-participating physicians and participating hospitals at the increased levels (as shown on Exhibit 2 in Appendix A).
- **2. Recommendation**: We recommend that the Program continue to assess liability insurers at the maximum amount of one-fourth of one percent of net direct liability premiums written in Virginia.
- **3. Recommendation**: Recommendations 1 and 2 notwithstanding, we recommend that the Program find means to increase funding, either through assessments or through the identification of other sources, to reduce the estimated deficit of the Program as it is currently structured.
- **4. Recommendation**: We recommend that reviews of the actuarial soundness of the Fund be conducted annually.
- **5. Recommendation**: We recommend that the Program continue to maintain and continually update claimant payment and personal information and assessment information in the format and level of detail as requested for each annual actuarial study.
- **6. Recommendation:** We recommend that the Program continue to obtain copies of the claimants' insurance policies and provide copies of the policies at the time of each actuarial review.
- **7. Recommendation**: We recommend that for all future studies the Program update the new information provided to us this year: (1) life expectancy estimates prepared by Dr. Shavelle based on individual claimant medical assessments and (2) a detailed Life Plan for each

Major Findings and Recommendations Recommendations

claimant, including expected annual payments by expense item. Although we find that use of Dr. Shavelle's life expectancies would not produce materially different estimates from the estimates we present in this report, we recommend that the Program engage Dr. Shavelle to provide composite mortality tables by medical condition (as defined in Appendix B) as part of his future updates of life expectancies for claimants in the Program. We also recommend that the Program continue to provide individual claimant Life Plans so that we can monitor the reasonableness of our estimates and begin to develop the history that is needed to eventually apply the Florida Method (as defined in Appendix B).

Method and Assumptions

Introduction

In very general terms, we estimate the future payment obligations of the Program as follows:

- We estimate the total number of claimants. This consists of the actual number of admitted claimants, plus our estimate of the number of claimants born prior to the evaluation date who are not-yet-admitted.
- We forecast, by category of claim payment, and for each of the claimants we estimate will be admitted to the Program, the future payments that will be made by the Program. These estimates are based on:
 - the actual payments made by the Program on behalf of the 111 claimants who had been in the Program for three or more years as of December 31, 2008;
 - our understanding of each of the 111 claimants' insurance coverage and eligibility for Medicaid;
 - assumptions regarding future cost inflation;
 - assumptions regarding future changes in the utilization of the benefits and services of the Program.
- We adjust our projected future payments to each claimant to reflect:
 - an assumed life expectancy for each claimant (our findings are presented assuming the same mortality table applies to each claimant; differences in life expectancy are only due to the attained age of each claimant); and,
 - the time value of money (based on estimated investment income).

This section of the report is organized into the following subsections:

- Claim Payments: This provides an overview of the types and amounts of payments that are covered by the Program, an explanation of how we forecast the future payments to individual claimants, and the values that we estimate as the total lifetime costs per claimant for the various payment categories.
- Other Assumptions: This provides discussion of the other assumptions (other than claim payments), such as inflation rates, the interest rate used to reflect the time value of money, insurance coverages, the number of not-yet-admitted claimants, and so forth.
- Methodology: This provides more precise discussion of how we combine our forecasts of payments with the other assumptions. This section also provides information on the effects of the "De Novo" legislation.
- Sensitivity Testing: This discusses the sensitivity of our findings to various assumptions underlying our analysis.

Claim Payments

Table 5, below, shows a brief history of the actual claim payments, by year, from 1988 through 2008.

TABLE 5

Total Claim Payments

	Incremental	Cumulative
<u>As Of</u>	Amount Paid	<u>Amount Paid</u>
(1)	(2)	(3)
12/31/88	\$0	\$0
12/31/89	0	0
12/31/90	0	0
12/31/91	0	0
12/31/92	14,161	14,161
12/31/93	97,886	112,047
12/31/94	239,124	351,171
12/31/95	1,860,514	2,211,685
12/31/96	4,667,043	6,878,728
12/31/97	4,547,735	11,426,463
12/31/98	2,920,146	14,346,609
12/31/99	3,505,686	17,852,295
12/31/00	5,685,588	23,537,883
12/31/01	5,745,413	29,283,296
12/31/02	4,638,442	33,921,738
12/31/03	5,429,845	39,351,583
12/31/04	6,012,468	45,364,051
12/31/05	8,548,706	53,912,757
12/31/06	10,482,314	64,395,071
12/31/07	9,230,255	73,625,326
12/31/08	10,778,949	84,404,276

Note:

Numbers may not add to total due to rounding.

Method and Assumptions Claim Payments

The increase in claim payments during 2008 as compared to 2007 (\$10.8 million in 2008 compared to \$9.2 million in 2007) is due mainly to the increase in payments for Housing, which decreased from \$1.7 million in 2006 to \$0.8 million in 2007 and then increased to \$1.6 million in 2008. This increase in Housing payments is primarily the result of 7 claimants for whom housing renovations were completed in 2008. Increases for other expense categories were generally in line with the prior two years of payment levels given the increase in claimants and inflation.

In this study, as in prior studies, our basic approach is to base our forecast of future claim payments on a detailed review of past payments in each category, by claimant, for all claimants in Group A (claimants in the Program for at least three years as of December 31, 2008).

In addition to reviewing the actual claim payment histories of the individual claimants, we also discuss these histories with management of the Program. This provides valuable information regarding whether or not the claimants had insurance coverage or received Medicaid, and about some of the actual expenses that individual claimants were incurring. We understand through discussions with management of the Program that, currently, all claimants but four have either Medicaid or private insurance coverage, though claimants do occasionally switch insurance coverages, which may leave a claimant uninsured for a short period of time.

The Program currently keeps track of its claim payments in 12 categories. The Program provides the actual payments through December 31, 2008, sorted by category of payment by year and for each of the 142 claimants who were in the Program as of December 31, 2008. We use this information as the primary base for projecting the future costs of the Program. Table 6, which follows, provides a summary of this payment information, showing the total amount that the Program has paid, by category.

TABLE 6

Total Actual Claim Payments Through 12/31/08 and During 2008

Expense	Payments through	Percentage of Total	Payments in	Percentage of 2008
<u>Category</u>	<u>12/31/08</u>	Payments	<u>2008</u>	Payments
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Nursing	\$48,252,597	57.2%	\$6,800,658	63.1%
Hospital/Physician	1,908,116	2.3%	74,268	0.7%
Incidental	3,220,957	3.8%	306,853	2.8%
Housing	16,832,176	19.9%	1,628,867	15.1%
Vans	5,403,092	6.4%	656,039	6.1%
Lost Wages	342,215	0.4%	245,052	2.3%
Physical Therapy	2,158,400	2.6%	264,597	2.4%
Medical Equipment	1,912,935	2.3%	206,675	1.9%
Prescription Drugs	936,682	1.1%	127,687	1.2%
Legal	2,420,307	2.9%	299,892	2.8%
Insurance	814,061	1.0%	152,999	1.4%
Medical Review/Intake	202,735	0.2%	<u>15,363</u>	0.1%
Total	\$84,404,275	100.0%	\$10,778,949	100.0%

Note:

Numbers may not add to total due to rounding.

Claimants submit to the Program any costs not covered by private insurance or Medicaid, and the Program is responsible for paying these costs. The actual payments recorded by the Program represent "net" payments after recoveries from private insurance and Medicaid. There are several types of costs (for example, expenses for hospital stays or physician visits) for which the Program has not made any payments for Medicaid patients. In cases where claimants have lost Medicaid benefits and now have private insurance, we use either the minimum values applied to all claimants, for those costs that were previously covered in full by Medicaid, or amounts based on conversations with management of the Program, in order to forecast the costs that are expected to be paid by the Program in the future. These minimum values are discussed in detail, by category of payment, in the Methodology section of this report.

We note that several claimants have applied for Medicaid waivers and receive Nursing benefits based on these waivers. Our treatment of these waivers is described in the Methodology section below.

We base this current study, primarily, on actual payments through December 31, 2008, which represents a twelve-month update of the payments that were primarily used in our 2008 Study.

For analytical purposes we split the claimant population into three groups:

• Group A consists of all claimants who were admitted to the Program on or before December 31, 2005. That is, Group A claimants are those who have been in the Program at least three full years. Group A contains 111 claimants, including 27 deceased claimants.

We forecast the future costs of individual claimants in Group A based on the payments that have been made to this group of claimants. For each claimant in Group A, we have a minimum of three years of actual claim payments as of December 31, 2008. We would prefer, for forecasting purposes, to have many more years of actual claim payments in order to forecast, with a higher degree of confidence, lifetime costs of claimants. However, because the Program is relatively new, more extensive claim payment information does not exist.

Due to substantial variations in annual expenses across categories among Group A claimants, we use certain assumptions for each Group A claimant in our forecasting methodology. Our objective in this approach is to evaluate the Group A claimant expenses that will be appropriate on an aggregate basis, rather than on a claimant-by-claimant basis.

Group B consists of all claimants who were admitted to the Program in 2006, 2007, or 2008.
 Group B contains 31 claimants, 5 of whom were deceased as of December 31, 2008.

In our opinion, the actual claim payment information for Group B claimants is not sufficiently credible to be used for forecasting their future claim payments. Each of the Group B claimants has less than three years of actual claim experience as of December 31, 2008. During a claimant's first year in the Program, claim payments may be distorted due to payments made

for costs incurred prior to admission into the Program. More importantly, for many claimants costs fluctuate significantly during the first few years of participation in the Program. Therefore, because of the limitations of the claim payment information for Group B claimants, we use the claim payment information for Group A claimants as a basis to forecast the future claim payments for Group B.

Group C represents our estimate of the children born on or before December 31, 2008 who were not admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2008, but who will eventually apply to, and be admitted into, the Program. We estimate that Group C contains 48 future claimants. We generally use information from claimants in Group A to forecast future claim payments for claimants in Group C. In addition, for the medical review/intake expense category, for which all costs are incurred during the claimant's application process, we use information from Group B claimants to forecast future claim payments for claimants in Group C, in order to use the most recent information on this cost.

As described in our 2008 Report, we have separately identified those claimants who were deceased at the time of their acceptance to the Program. There are 7 Group A claimants and 4 Group B claimants that fall into this category, and we assume that 5.0% of the Group C claimants will fall into this category. For the 11 known claimants in this category, their average cost has been approximately \$14,000, and we forecast that the Program will not incur any additional costs associated with these claimants. For the 5.0% of Group C claimants that we forecast will fall into this category, we project their average cost will be \$20,000, which we selected to be somewhat conservative (high). In addition, we assume that 2 of these claimants will be eligible for the \$100,000 award.

In the course of this project, we reviewed the cost history of each claimant and discussed the cost history with management of the Program, as we did in our prior studies. This discussion provided valuable information that has been helpful in preparing our forecasts.

Table 6 above shows aggregate claim payments, by category, through December 31, 2008. By definition, because Groups A and B are the claimants who had been admitted to the Program by December 31, 2008, Table 6 shows the actual costs for all Group A and B claimants, combined.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Table 7, below, shows the projected average lifetime costs by category that we estimate for a Group C claimant. Column (2) shows the average costs for all Group C claimants, including those who are expected to be deceased at the time that they are accepted into the Program. Column (3) shows the changes in these values from the time of our last report.

Column (4) shows the projected average lifetime costs, by category, for those Group C claimants who were living at the time that they were accepted into the Program.

These estimates shown in Table 7 reflect our assumptions about the average life expectancy of these claimants, and all of the lifetime costs are shown at their present value, as of December 31, 2008. These estimates are based on our analysis of the payments made on behalf of the Group A (and to some extent Group B) claimants. Except for housing expenses, for which the Program's policies have changed in recent years (as explained later in this section), and payment timing differences, the estimates in Table 7 are also typical of the estimated lifetime costs for claimants in Groups A and B who were living at the time they were accepted into the Program.

The changes shown in Column (3), "Change from Prior Report," reflect the year to year volatility in the actual expense, especially for Hospital/Physician, Lost Wages, Prescription Drugs and Legal expenses.

TABLE 7

Forecasted Lifetime Costs (Present Value at 12/31/08) Forecasted Lifetime

			Average Costs for
	Average Costs for	Change	All Group C
Expense	All Group C	from Prior	Claimants Living at
<u>Category</u>	<u>Claimants</u>	<u>Report</u>	<u>Time of Acceptance</u>
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Nursing	\$1,565,634	\$61,623	\$1,648,036
Hospital/Physician	44,831	(553)	47,191
Incidental	45,820	484	48,232
Housing	125,106	3,712	131,690
Vans	54,074	1,733	56,920
Lost Wages	123,407	12,519	129,902
Physical Therapy	30,035	1,281	31,616
Medical Equipment	66,328	274	69,819
Prescription Drugs	47,745	(2,677)	50,257
Legal	18,637	(4,577)	18,565
Insurance	21,049	277	22,157
Medical Review/Intake	1,502	8	1,581
Total	\$2,144,168	\$74,104	\$2,255,967

Notes:

1) Last year's amounts are not adjusted for inflation. Adjusted for inflation, the change from the prior report would be (\$44,757).

2) Numbers may not add to total due to rounding.

Table 7 shows that we estimate the average amount of future claim payments, for a Group C claimant, on a present value basis, to be about \$2.3 million. The nursing category represents about \$1.6 million, approximately 73% of this total, the same as we reported in our 2008 Report. Although many claimants have had little or no nursing costs, a few have had large nursing costs. This is clearly the largest payment category, and any changes affecting the future cost or utilization of nursing services could have a major impact on our findings.

Following is a discussion of each individual cost category.

Nursing

Nursing covers the cost of in-home nursing care, and represents the most significant payment category for the Program. As shown in Table 6, approximately 57% of all payments made by the Program from inception to date have been for nursing. In 2008, nursing care costs increased by approximately 6%, from \$6.4 million to \$6.8 million, due to the increase, from 78 to 95, in the number of claimants receiving nursing benefits, partially offset by a decease in nursing costs per claimant as discussed below.

Based on our discussions with management of the Program, we understand that a substantial portion of the increase in nursing expenses, both from 2003 to 2004 and from 2004 to 2005, was due to the fact that the nursing community was able to meet a demand for additional nursing services that had not previously been met. We assumed in our 2006 report that the higher level of nursing services utilized by claimants in 2004 and 2005 represented a one-time shift to a higher level of nursing services, and this higher level of services was not indicative of an underlying upward trend in annual claimant nursing expenses that would continue. The data for 2006 to 2008 suggest that the average cost per claimant, for those claimants receiving nursing care, moderated from the average cost levels for 2005. This moderation of the average annual nursing costs supports the assumption we made in 2006 that the relatively high increase in nursing costs during the 2003 to 2005 period was not an underlying trend but rather a one-time shift. We continue to monitor this trend.

In 2008, the Program paid an average of about \$51,900 per living claimant for nursing costs, which represents an 12.0% decrease over last year's comparable average. Included in this average are newly admitted claimants, many of whom had relatively little nursing costs in 2008. The average nursing payment made by the Program in 2008 to each living Group A claimant (those who have been in the Program for at least three years) was \$69,400, which represents an approximate 11.0% decrease over last year's comparable figure. We note that this decrease was the result of a few claimants with high nursing costs who died during 2008 and the claimants who moved from Group B to Group A status during the year. The combined movement of these

two changes in the composition of Group A claimants during the year caused 10 points of the 11% drop in average nursing payment.

The Program's experience also reveals considerable variation in the amount of nursing costs paid to each claimant. Many claimants in the Program have low or no nursing costs, whereas others are receiving round-the-clock nursing at an annual cost in excess of \$250,000. For those claimants receiving nursing services, most of the claimants receive services from licensed practical nurses ("LPNs") and other claimants, because of their medical needs, receive services from registered nurses ("RNs").

For each of the claimants in Group A, we generally base our future cost projections on the actual payments made to Group A claimants in 2008. Some Group A claimants have had very little costs in the nursing category, and for them we forecast future nursing costs to be \$10,000 per year, at 2008 price levels (this is less than the assumption used in our prior report, which is discussed in the Utilization section). We use this minimum because we expect that, among Group A claimants who currently have little or no nursing costs, most will eventually incur nursing costs. We use the actual and forecasted claims experience of Group A claimants to forecast the future claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C and, therefore, this assumed annual minimum also affects our estimates of the forecasted claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C.

As discussed in the Utilization section, we also introduced this year an assumed maximum annual level of nursing expense (\$400,000 in 2008 dollars) to ensure that the trended nursing costs do not exceed a reasonable maximum level for 24-hour nursing care. We set the maximum level slightly above the highest level of nursing costs (in 2008 dollars) experienced by any claimant since the beginning of the program.

Method and Assumptions Claim Payments

Thus far, only 4 claimants have been institutionalized, two of whom are deceased. Based on this experience, and on discussions with the management of the Program, it appears that families are keeping the claimants at home, with associated nursing care, much longer than had previously been expected. Our current estimates reflect this actual experience and do not assume that claimants will be moved into institutional care.

We assume that the individual and group insurance coverage under which claimants are covered does not provide coverage for nursing costs. This is based on our general knowledge that private health insurance typically excludes coverage for custodial nursing care. Further, this general knowledge is supported by the fact that none of the claimants' insurance coverage pays for nursing costs, according to management of the Program.

Further, we assume that Medicaid does not provide coverage for nursing costs, except when a claimant applies for a waiver. The Program provided information regarding Medicaid waivers for 15 claimants, as compared to our assumption in last year's report that 13 of the claimants in the Program have ever qualified for such payments from Medicaid.

To summarize, the average nursing costs per living Group A claimant is lower than the average living Group A claimant from last year. Since our estimates of future claim payments for all Group A, B and C claimants are based on this average, this change causes us to reduce our estimates of future claim payments. We also reduced the minimum annual nursing cost from \$36,338 (in the 2008 Study) to \$10,000 and introduced a maximum annual nursing cost of \$400,000. We comment on the impact of these changes in conjunction with the change in the nursing utilization factor on page 52 since the impact of these changes is influenced by our change in method and assumptions for the nursing utilization factor.

Hospital/Physician

The hospital/physician payment category includes costs incurred for surgery, hospitalization, trips to an emergency room, physical examinations, and so forth.

For each of the claimants in Group A, we base our future cost projections for hospital/physician costs on an average of the actual payments made by the Program to the Group A claimants in the past three years. Some Group A claimants have had very little cost in this category, and for them we forecast \$2,980 per year at 2008 cost levels (this is the equivalent of \$2,000 per year at 2000 cost levels, consistent with the assumption used in our 2008 Report). We use this minimum because we expect that among those Group A claimants who currently have little or no hospital/physician costs, some percentage will eventually incur such costs. We use the actual and forecasted claims experience of Group A claimants to forecast the future claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C and, therefore, this assumed annual minimum also affects our estimates of the forecasted claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C.

We assume that insurance will cover 80% of allowable costs in this category, and that 80% of allowable costs will translate into 75% of actual costs. Therefore, we assume that the Program pays 25% of these costs, for claimants who have private insurance. For claimants who receive Medicaid, and for whom the Program has incurred some costs in this payment category, we assume that Medicaid is covering 80% of their costs in this category. As discussed in the Sensitivity Testing section of this report, the percentage of costs that we select as being covered by insurance or Medicaid actually has little impact on the final estimates.

Incidental

The incidental payment category includes: non-durable medical supplies, over-the-counter drugs, feeding tubes, diapers, computers, computer equipment, mileage reimbursement and any other expense not fitting into any of the other payment categories.

The Program's definition of "incidental cost" has not been consistent over time because, when the Program establishes new categories, the types of costs that were previously categorized as incidental are shifted to these new categories. Therefore, for each of the claimants in Group A, we base our projections of future costs on the actual incidental expenses paid to the claimants in Group A in 2008, the most recent full year. We use the actual and forecasted claims experience of Group A claimants to forecast the future claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C.

We assume that neither private insurance nor Medicaid provides coverage for incidental costs and, therefore, that the Program pays 100 percent of these costs.

Housing

Housing costs can be split into four sub-categories:

Trust homes – Until September 24, 1999, the Program purchased homes and provided them to claimants for the lifetime of the claimant (claimant families are permitted to remain in the home for six months after the death of the claimant). Although the Program identifies these purchases as costs, they are actually assets of the Program and we treat them as such. There have been a total of 24 trust homes, seven of which have been sold following the death of the claimant. All of the trust homes have been used by claimants in Group A.

Housing Grant – Beginning September 25, 1999, the Program began to make grants to claimants for the construction of houses. The size of the grant varies according to the construction costs in the area where the claimant will live, but it generally averages about \$350,000. When the grant

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

has been made, it is paid out over time to cover construction costs of the house and incidental, related costs, such as rental costs, while the house is under construction. The claimants own the homes that they purchase with the aid of housing grants, so these are not assets of the Program. Thirteen grants have been awarded, all to Group A claimants.

Renovations – Beginning January 1, 2001, the Program discontinued the housing grant program and, in its place, pays the costs of renovating the claimant's existing house (if the claimant's family owns a home) to add a bedroom and a bathroom. The program will pay for only a one-time renovation for each claimant. A renovation is subject to a maximum benefit of \$175,000 for the lifetime of the claimant. Consistent with our 2008 Report, we have used an average estimate of \$138,098 at 2008 cost levels. Once a claimant has had a renovation completed on their home, we have estimated no further housing costs for the claimant.

Additional modifications such as ramps, elevators, and lifts are considered medical equipment expenses and are not subject to the maximum benefit of \$175,000 for housing costs, based on discussions the Program.

Rentals - The July 1, 2003 legislation specified, in Section 38.2 – 5016 item 2, "that the board of directors of the Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program shall develop and implement a policy to address the needs of infants who are eligible for benefits under the Program for handicapped-accessible housing. The board's policy shall address appropriate housing benefits when the infant's parents or legal guardians are homeowners and are non-homeowners."

To conform to this legislation, management of the Program has established a rental benefit of \$175,000 for the lifetime of the claimant. This benefit represents the difference between the claimant's current rent and the rent due for an upgraded accommodation that includes those features necessary for handicapped accessibility. The claimant and the claimant's family must have moved to such an accommodation before receiving the benefit. According to management of the Program, the maximum benefit of \$175,000 applies on a combined basis to the rental benefit and to one-time renovations discussed above.

For all claimants (or the claimant's family, in the case where a claimant is deceased) who are in a *trust home*, we forecast expenses for the payment of real estate taxes, maintenance, insurance, and so forth on a claimant-by-claimant basis, based on the prior three years. We note that our forecasts average to about \$10,000 per year.

For all claimants who have been provided a *housing grant*, whether Group A or Group B, the total amount of the grant is known and we only estimate when it will be paid. The timing of the payment depends on the timing of the construction of the new home. We generally assume that the Program will pay any outstanding balances on the grants over the four-year period from 2009 through 2012. As of December 31, 2008, there are outstanding housing grants for 8 claimants, for a total outstanding value of approximately \$602,000. Although the Program only paid \$4,000 for housing grants in 2008, claimants who have not used up their full grant allocation may still request the Program to pay for either initial or additional home renovations. Accordingly, we have estimated that the entire unused and outstanding grant amount of \$602,000 will be requested and paid out over the next four years.

For all Group A and Group B claimants who are living and who are not in a trust home and who have not been given a housing grant, as well as for all Group C claimants, we assume that future housing costs will be \$138,098 (at 2008 cost levels) for *renovations and rentals* (except in those cases where the renovations have already been completed). For claimants in Groups A and B, we assume that this amount will be paid over a four-year period from 2009 through 2012. For claimants in Group C, we assume that this amount will be paid, on average, in four years.

Neither private insurance nor Medicaid provides coverage for housing costs.

Vans

The Program purchases vans for every claimant who is restricted to a wheelchair, if the claimant requests a van. Virtually all claimants are restricted to wheelchairs. Of the 110 claimants living as of December 31, 2008, only 7 were ambulatory.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Method and Assumptions Claim Payments

In the initial years of the Program's operation, the Program purchased a mini-van for the claimant's first van. Special equipment add-ons, such as lifts, were added and repaired by the Program as needed. The van would then be used until the claimant outgrew it, generally at about age seven, at which time the Program purchased a full-size van for the claimant. Between 1997 and 1998, the Program started purchasing full-size vans as the first vans, rather than mini-vans. Beginning in 2002, the claimant's family has the option of selecting a modified mini-van or a full-size van. According to management of the Program, both options are at similar costs to the Program. Beginning in 2003, the claimant's family was given a cost allowance for a vehicle of their choosing. The allowance is approximately \$5,000 higher for those families for which the claimant is older and taller. On an on-going basis, the Program covers any repairs to the special equipment on the van, but repair and maintenance of the van itself is the responsibility of the claimant. Vans purchased by the Program for claimants become the property of the claimants and are not assets of the Program.

Consistent with the amount included in our 2008 Report, we assume that the average price of a van, with necessary equipment and including a provision for future repair of the equipment, is \$37,945 at 2008 cost levels (this is the equivalent of \$37,500 per year at 2006 cost levels). Further, we assume that the Program will replace full size vans every eight years. This is the same assumption we used in our last study.

Neither private insurance nor Medicaid provides coverage for vans.

Lost Wages

For claimants age 18 or older, the Program will pay for lost wages.

15 claimants in the Program have attained the age of 18. The amount to be paid to each claimant is fixed at 50 percent of the private average weekly non-agricultural wage in Virginia. Based on discussions with the Program, this is \$21,840 per year (at 2008 cost levels). For each claimant, we adjust the \$21,840 for inflation to forecast the annual amount that will be paid at age 18 and beyond.

We note that the lost wage benefit has caused some claimants to lose the Medicaid benefits, and with it, lose Medicaid waivers that paid for nursing expenses, among other benefits.

Physical Therapy

Most claimants receive physical therapy for several years.

According to our discussion with management of the Program, and consistent with our observations for older claimants, physical therapy expenses tend to decline over time.

We forecast that for most of the claimants: the costs for each of the next five years will equal the costs of the most recent year; the costs of each of the subsequent five years will be one-half of the costs of the most recent year; the costs thereafter will be \$0. This is consistent with the methodology used in our 2008 Report.

We use the actual and forecasted claims experience of Group A claimants to forecast the future claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C and, therefore, our assumptions regarding the physical therapy expenses of Group A claimants also affects our estimates of the forecasted claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C.

We assume that private insurance and Medicaid provide coverage for physical therapy, in the same way that they provide coverage for hospital/physician expenses, as discussed above.

Medical Equipment

The medical equipment payment category includes costs associated with durable medical supplies. The most expensive component is wheelchairs. The Program provides children with their first wheelchair at about the age of three and provides replacement wheelchairs as the children grow.

For each of the claimants in Group A, we base our projections of future medical equipment costs on the actual payments made in the most recent three years. We use the actual and forecasted claims experience of Group A claimants to forecast the future claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C.

We assume that private insurance and Medicaid provide coverage for this payment category, in the same way that they provide coverage for hospital/physician costs, as discussed above.

Prescription Drugs

The Program did not begin to use a separate category for prescription drugs until 2000. Prior to 2000, these costs were assigned to other categories. For Group A claimants we project future costs based on the actual payments to Group A claimants in the most recent year. We use the actual and forecasted claims experience of Group A claimants to forecast the future claims experience of claimants in Groups B and C.

We assume that private insurance will provide coverage for this payment category in the same way as discussed above for hospital/physician costs. Based on claims histories for claimants who have Medicaid, however, we generally assume that Medicaid will cover 100 percent of costs in this category. We have been told by management of the Program that not all drugs are covered by Medicaid, and the Program's records indicate that it has made insignificant payments for prescription drugs for Group A claimants with Medicaid. We forecast that these payments will continue.

Legal

Legal costs are incurred, by both the Program and the claimants, during the application process.

We assume that claimants in Groups A and B will not have any additional legal costs. For Group C, we forecast legal costs equal to the average legal costs for Group A.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Neither private insurance nor Medicaid provides coverage for legal costs.

Insurance

The Program pays for automobile insurance for the vans, up to \$514 per year; this is equal to the amount paid as presented in our 2008 Report (at 2008 cost levels). In addition, there are several claimants for whom the Program pays the premiums for private health insurance. We understand that the Program encourages families to purchase health insurance if they are otherwise uninsured, and the Program will pay the premium if necessary.

For each of the claimants in Group A, we project future automobile insurance costs at \$514 per year for each claimant who has, or is projected to have, a van. For the Group A claimants for whom the Program is paying for private health insurance, we forecast the future annual cost to be equal to the actual cost paid by the Program in 2008.

Neither private insurance nor Medicaid provides coverage for these costs.

Medical Review/Intake

The medical review/intake category of payment includes costs that are paid by the Program during the claimant's application process.

As mentioned in our 2008 Report, we understand that the costs per claimant have generally increased in recent years as the admission process has become more involved. For example, three or four medical opinions are now generally required, rather than only one.

We forecast \$0 of future costs in this category for Group A and Group B claimants. For Group C claimants, we estimate the future costs based on the actual average costs for Group B claimants.

Neither private insurance nor Medicaid provides coverage for these costs.

Other Assumptions

Inflation

For each of the payment categories discussed above, we estimate the annual inflation rate that will apply to future annual costs. We base these inflation rates on consumer price indexes published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, including the "Consumer Price Index; All Urban Consumers; All Items," which we refer to as the "general inflation index." Our assumptions are shown in Table 8.

TABLE 8

	Future		
	Annual	Incremental	
	Inflation	Difference	
	Rate	from General	
Expense Item	(Percent)	Inflation	<u>CPI Urban Index For:</u>
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
General Inflation	3.85	0.00	All Items (1913-2008)
Incidental	3.85	0.00	All Items (1913-2008)
Hospital/Physician	5.66	1.81	Medical Care Services (1991-2008)
Nursing	4.34	0.49	Professional Services (1991-2008)
Physical Therapy	4.34	0.49	Professional Services (1991-2008)
Medical Equipment	5.13	1.28	Prescription Drugs and Medical Supplies (1991-2008)
Vans	1.04	-2.81	New and Used Motor Vehicles (1993-2008)
Housing	4.08	0.23	Housing (1991-2008)
Legal	5.79	1.94	Legal Services (1991-2008)
Medical Review/Intake	3.85	0.00	All Items (1913-2008)
Insurance	3.85	0.00	All Items (1913-2008)
Prescription Drugs	5.13	1.28	Prescription Drugs and Medical Supplies (1991-2008)
Lost Wages	3.85	0.00	All Items (1913-2008)

TABLE 8A

TABLE 8B

	Long-term		
Averages	General Inflation	n Selected General Inflation	
All Years	3.35	Long-term	3.35
Since 1950	4.43	Future	3.85
Latest 40 Years	4.58	Historical	2.85
Latest 20 Years	2.70		

For general inflation we note in Table 8B that the long-term general inflation rate is 3.35 percent and over the last 20 years the general inflation rate has been approximately 0.65 percentage points less than the long-term rate. As discussed further below, we select 2.85 percent, 0.50 percent less than the long-term general inflation rate as the inflation rate to adjust past program costs to 2008 cost levels and we select 3.85 percent as the general inflation rate to adjust 2008 costs to future cost levels, as discussed below.

For each specific consumer price index and for the general inflation, Table 8 shows the annual rate of inflation that we forecast and the incremental difference between this assumed inflation rate and the inflation rate we forecast for the general inflation. For example, as shown in Column 2, we forecast that the annual inflation rate for nursing costs will be 4.34 percent, and this amount exceeds our forecast of the General Inflation rate by 0.49 percentage points (4.34 - 3.85 = 0.49) as shown in Column 3. In addition, the table identifies the specific cost index upon which we base our estimate. The index labeled Professional Services is actually a subset of Medical Care Services.

As shown in Column 4 of Table 8, we have information on the general inflation from 1913, but we only have information on the other cost indexes for shorter periods, such as from 1991 or 1993. Therefore, we first compare each cost index to the general inflation index, for a comparable time period, in order to estimate the difference between the change in that cost index and the change in the general inflation index. We then estimate the long-term rate of general inflation based on data from 1913 through 2008, and estimate the long-term rate of change for the individual indexes based on the assumed difference between that index and the index for general inflation. For example, based on data from 1991 through 2008, we estimate that the increase in costs for nursing is equal to the increase in the general inflation rate, plus 0.49

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

percentage points. We estimate that the general inflation rate to adjust to future cost levels is 3.85 percent and, therefore, we estimate that the long-term increase in nursing costs will be 4.34 percent (0.49 + 3.85 = 4.34).

The rates of inflation that we select reflect only changes in the unit costs of goods and services and are not intended to include provision for changes in the utilization of the Program's benefits and services. Note that the assumed inflation rate is not materially different than used in our 2008 Study. Our assumptions regarding changes in utilization are discussed later in this report.

As part of our analysis, we considered the work of the Society of Actuaries' ("SOA") Project Oversight Group which produced a report titled *Long Term Healthcare Trends Resource Model, Practical Issues for Actuaries* ("the SAO Report"). In addition, we reviewed the Society of Actuaries' paper titled *Modeling Long Term Health Care Cost Trends* by Professor Thomas Getzen (the "Getzen Paper").

Taken together, these two documents make the following observations or provide the following guidance:

- 1. The Getzen Paper observes that long-term inflation has averaged 3.2% and has been 0.5% lower in recent years and 0.5% to 1.0% higher over the last fifty years (Page 2). The report goes on to say: "*Most forecasters assume that inflation is more likely to edge higher ... than to fall*" (Page 7). These are similar to our observations in the Table 8.
- 2. The Getzen Paper provides this observation: "Forecasters generally agree that long run inflation is among the most difficult of economic variables to forecast, and that little certainty can be attached to any forecast beyond three years" (Page 7). We agree and note that we have provided a sensitivity test for inflation rates in the Sensitivity section below for rates up to 1.5 points higher or lower than our base inflation assumption.
- 3. The Getzen Paper notes that from 1960 to 2006, "growth in medical costs averaged 2.56% above GDP...assuming a long-run 'GDP+1%' can be considered 'reasonable' only because it explicitly assumes some cost cutting reductions to maintain affordability and sustainability" (Page 15).
- 4. The "SOA Report" observes that models that forecast health care costs cannot continue at a pace above GDP as experienced in previous years, such as the 2.56% above GDP for 1960 to

2006 because it assumes that health care costs will reach a level that they consume the "whole of the US economy".

- 5. The SOA Report provides a model that computes prospective health care trend rates through 2080 based on various assumptions including the "resistance point" for the health costs as a share of GDP, 25% in the example that they provide. By the "resistance point," they mean that there is a practical limit of how large health care costs can be as a percentage of the total economy.
- 6. The SOA Report offers a "sample" scenario based on key underlying assumptions that results in health care trend rates in 2011 of 6.6% and 4.8% in 2080. This scenario assumes, for example, basic inflation of 3.2%, extra trend due to advancements in medical technology of 1.2% and a resistance level of health share of GDP of 25% in 2075.

Based on our review of inflation rates updated through year-end 2008 and these two documents, we have made the following assumptions:

- 1. We select the long-term base general inflation rate, to be 3.35%, essentially unchanged from last year and similar to the Getzen assumption above. However, we make two adjustments to the way in which we apply the selected long-term general inflation rate, as follows:
 - a. We lowered the general inflation rate of 3.35% by 0.65 percentage points to 2.85% to adjust past program costs to 2008 cost levels to recognize the generally lower inflation rates in the last 20 years.
 - b. We raised the future inflation rate to adjust 2008 costs to levels in future years, from the 3.35% long-term general inflation rate to 3.85%, an increase of 0.50 percentage points to reflect an expectation of generally rising inflation.
- 2. The selected incremental differences displayed in Table 8 for health care categories range from 0.49% for nursing and physical therapy to 1.81% for hospital/physician, are essentially unchanged from last year.
- 3. Excluding the nursing utilization factor, we are using a prospective nursing inflation rate of approximately 4.34%, which is below the SOA future inflation level in the sample scenario discussed above. We believe this is reasonable because:

- a. The Program has a higher proportion of nursing expenses than the health care industry and nursing expenses have increased at a much lower rate than health care expenses in total.
- b. For the sample we cite from the SOA report, the trend rate in the sample scenario includes 1.2 percentage points for technology. Neither is applicable to nursing expense.

Interest Rate

After forecasting the future costs, using the payment assumptions and inflation rates discussed above, we discount the future costs to a present value. This requires that we assume a specific interest rate for discounting purposes. We select an annual rate of return of 6.58 percent, which we use for discounting purposes. Note that the prospective return over the next five or ten years is the subject of considerable debate in the financial community. We note that the Fund lost 21.0% in 2008 and gained 5.4% for the six month period ending June 30, 2009.

In our 2008 Study, we assumed a 6.57 percent rate of return (that is, interest rate used for discounting future claim payments). This change in assumption does not have a material impact on our estimates compared to our 2008 Study. In that study, we based this interest rate assumption primarily on the expected rate of return on invested assets, as stated by SunTrust, the Fund's investment manager.

In August 2005, the Fund changed investment advisors, from Merrill Lynch to SunTrust. Management of the Fund has provided its Investment Policy Statement, dated March 1, 2005, in which the Fund indicates that its investment goal "targets a total annual return of 6.8 percent." In forecasting a projected rate of return for the Fund's assets, we have continued to select a differential of 3.50 percentage points above our selected long-term general inflation rate of 3.35%, resulting in a projected rate of return of 6.85 (comparable to the investment goal of 6.85%) percent for the invested assets excluding Trust homes and money market type accounts. The return for all invested assets averages 6.58%. Based on our conversations with the Fund's

management, we understand this forecasted rate of return to be consistent with the Fund's investment strategy as outlined in its current Investment Policy Statement, dated March 1, 2005.

Consistent with our 2008 Study we do not inflate the value of the trust houses. This is according to Generally Accepted Accounting Procedures ("GAAP") that specifies that the value of the trust house is the *lesser* of the cost of the house or the market value of the house. We have not been provided with the market value of the trust houses and, to the extent that the market value of the trust houses is greater than the cost, our estimates of the value of this asset will be conservative. However, given the magnitude of this class of asset relative to the total assets of the Fund, it is our opinion that any difference would not be material.

The total value of the trust houses, \$5,238,866 as provided by management of the Program is slightly higher (about \$60,000 higher) than the value used in our 2008 Report. This difference is not material.

Mortality

For this report, we revised the mortality (life expectancy) table that we used in our 2008 Report. In the discussion that follows, we review four mortality tables:

- The 1999 Table, which is the table that we introduced at the time of our 1999 study.
- The "Blended Table," which we calculated as one step in our approach to a new 2006 table.
- The 2008 Table, which is the table that we used in our 2008 Study (and which evolved from a series of mortality tables used each year from 2001 through 2008).
- The 2009 Table ("baseline"), which is the table that we are introducing in this study.

1999 Table

At the time of our 1999 report, we revised the table that had been in use for previous reports. That prior table was based on the assumption that the mortality rate of claimants in the Program would be double the mortality rate of children with cystic fibrosis, and would be slightly more than double during the first year of life. That prior table had originally been based on the expectation that claimants in the Program would have a very short life expectancy.

At the time of our 1999 report, we observed that the actual number of claimant deaths was less than what we would have expected based on the mortality table previously used, and we revised the table for that report so that it was identical to the underlying cystic fibrosis mortality table.

This table has an underlying average life expectancy of 17.5 years from birth, and an average life expectancy of 19.5 years for a child that attains the age of three. (Because claimants generally neither apply to, nor are admitted by, the Program until after the age of three or four, it is useful to show the life expectancy for children that have reached the age of three in addition to the life expectancy at birth.)

Blended Table

The Blended Table represents a combination of our 1999 Table and the 1998 U.S. Life Table, which is a mortality table for the population at-large. The blended table was created based on the following assumptions:

- The 1999 table is appropriate for use through age 15.
- Beyond age 15, the mortality of the claimants will gradually approach the standard mortality, merging with the standard mortality at age 85.

The logic underlying the Blended Table is that the claimants will have relatively high mortality during the first 15 years of life. The longer the claimants live, however, the more their future mortality will mirror the mortality of the standard population.

Method and Assumptions Other Assumptions

We developed the Blended Table in 2001, based on information contained in "Life Expectancy of Adults with Cerebral Palsy" by Strauss, Shavelle and others which appeared in *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 1998.* In this study, the authors make use of a large database covering the developmentally disabled in California. This study suggests that the mortality of a population with cerebral palsy, which is a non-progressive disease, will gradually approach the standard mortality as the population ages. Virtually all of the claimants in the Program have cerebral palsy. Therefore, there is reason to believe that the Blended Table may be appropriate.

This table has an underlying average life expectancy of 22.1 years, from birth, and an average life expectancy of 24.7 years for a child who has attained the age of three.

2008 Table

In 2001 we began to move toward the Blended Table above age 15:

- The 2001 Table was an 80/20 weighting of the 1999 Table and the Blended Table. Note that for under 15 years of age, this results in using 100% of the Cystic Fibrosis table since both the 1999 Table and the Blended Table equal the Cystic Fibrosis table up to age 15.
- The 2002 Table was a 70/30 weighting of the 1999 Table and the Blended Table.
- The 2003 Table was a 60/40 weighting of the 1999 Table and the Blended Table.
- The 2004 Table was a 50/50 weighting of the 1999 Table and the Blended Table.

In 2005, we continued to move toward the Blended Table above age 15 and to move to lower mortality than the Blended Table for ages 15 and below:

• The 2005 Table was equal to 85 percent of the mortality in the 1999 Table for ages 0 through 15 and a 40/60 weighting of the 1999 Table and the Blended Table for ages greater than 15.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

- The 2006 Table was equal to 80 percent of the mortality in the 1999 Table for ages 0 through 15 and a 30/70 weighting of the 1999 Table and the Blended Table for ages greater than 15.
- The 2007 Table was equal to 75 percent of the mortality in the 1999 Table for ages 0 through 15 and a 20/80 weighting of the 1999 Table and the Blended Table for ages greater than 15.
- The 2008 Table was equal to 70 percent of the mortality in the 1999 Table for ages 0 through 15 and a 10/90 weighting of the 1999 Table and the Blended Table for ages greater than 15.

The 2008 table had an underlying average life expectancy of 24.5 years, from birth, and an average life expectancy of 26.6 years for a child who has attained the age of three.

2009 Table

In this 2009 study, we have revised the mortality table for all years. We have set mortality equal to 60% of the mortality in the Blended Table for ages 0 through 15 and equal to a 100% weight to the Blended Table for ages greater than 15.

For ages 0 through 15, the change from 70% of the mortality in the Blended Table to 60% is based on our evaluation of the actual mortality of the claimants in the Program (21 deaths among those who were living when admitted to the Program), as compared to the number of deaths predicted by the Blended Table (37.3 deaths). In other words, the claimants in the Program have had a more favorable mortality than had been expected, and consequently we have decreased our estimate of the mortality.

For ages 15 and above, we have selected 100% of the Blended Table. We note that we have limited experience above age 15, since only 44 children have attained age 15 as of December 31, 2008. The Blended Table produces expected deaths of 5.14 as compared to actual deaths of 3. We find it prudent to move to 100% of the Blended Table at this time and will continue to monitor actual experience compared to predicted experience for this age group.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

We have considered the fact that both the Census Bureau and Society of Actuaries frequently produce new mortality tables. In our opinion, for the purpose of estimating the liabilities of the Birth Injury Fund, it is not necessary for us to adopt these new tables as they become available. Instead, in our opinion, the appropriate approach is to (a) continue to ensure that the mortality table is reasonably consistent with the Program's actual experience at the younger ages (for which the Program has data), and (b) continue to use expected experience for the higher ages (grading to published standard mortality, as suggested by the study by Strauss and others cited in the discussion above under the Blended Table).

The single most important unknown affecting the selection of mortality is the expected mortality for claimants above age 18 for which we have little information. We know that below 18 our claimants have had significantly more favorable mortality than the Cystic Fibrosis table which we use as a benchmark in developing our mortality table. However, we don't know if this favorable mortality will continue.

As further evidence of the high level of uncertainty surrounding estimates of future mortality, we note that a recently released paper, "Life Expectancy in Cerebral Palsy: an Update" published in *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology-2008* by Strauss, Shavelle and others (an update of the article cited above) discusses two general methods of constructing mortality tables:

- The method that is based on linearly declining log-relative-risk ("DLRR")
- A relatively new method that uses proportional life expectancy for a given condition ("CPLE"), that is, the proportion of normal life expectancy is the same at every age for a given condition.

The authors state that the DLRR method – which is the method that we have used to develop our mortality tables, including the 2008 table - tends to overestimate life expectancy. However, in the paper the authors present a mortality table based on the CPLE method, and that table shows the life expectancy at age 15, applied to the Program's claimants by injury characteristic, to be higher than what is implied by our 2008 table.

The impact of the adopting the 2009 Table raises our estimates of future claim payments by \$14.9 million.

As we discuss in Appendix 2 of this report, we believe the method used by the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Compensation Association ("NICA") – which is to perform individual medical and life expectancy assessments on each claimant - is an actuarially sound approach to estimating life expectancies. We note that in the Fund has implemented such an assessment this year for the first time and we review its findings in this Appendix. Note that such review is for Group A claimants only.

In the interim, consistent with our approach in prior studies, we recommend the use of the 2009 Mortality Table, which has the effect of modestly increasing the average life expectancy. (The 2009 Mortality Table has an underlying average life expectancy of 26.4 years, from birth, and an average life expectancy of 28.3 years for a child who has attained the age of three.) In Appendix B, we compare the life expectancy of the 2009 Mortality Table with the average life expectancy determined by the Program's consultant.

HMOs versus non-HMOs

We are unable to obtain exact information on the coverage provided by the claimants' underlying insurance because the Program does not maintain that information. However, we have been informed that all claimants except five are currently insured. For each claimant we determined whether they (a) have private insurance, or (b) receive Medicaid.

For those claimants who have private insurance, we cannot determine if they have group insurance or individual insurance, or if their insurance coverage is through an HMO or one of the various types of non-HMO programs. We assume that 16.0% of the insurance policies are HMOs, based on the 5 year average penetration ratio for all health insurance policies in Virginia as reported by Kaiser Family Foundation (<u>http://www.statehealthfacts.kff.org/</u>). For the most recent available four years, this source has shown the following penetration ratios for HMOs:

2004, 15.6%; 2005, 17.3%; 2006, 13.9%; 2007, 17.0%; and 2008, 16.3%. Because of the variability of these figures, from one year to the next, we have elected to select the average of all five available years as compared to last year at which time we only had three years available.

We assume that each type of insurance coverage provides coverage for 80% of allowable costs, which reduces to 75% of actual costs for hospital/physicians, physical therapy, medical equipment, and prescription drugs. These assumptions (80% of allowable costs and 75% of actual costs) are based on general knowledge of the insurance industry.

Further, we assume that each non-HMO insurance policy provides a lifetime maximum benefit of \$1 million, and that there is no lifetime limit on an HMO insurance policy.

Number of Group C Claims

The number of claimants in Group C, which represents our estimate of the number of claimants born on or before December 31, 2008 who were not yet admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2008, has a significant effect on our estimates of the total future claim payments. We estimate that there are 48 Group C claimants as of December 31, 2008. Our estimate is based on a review of how long it takes for claimants to be admitted to the Program.

Group C Average Values

We estimate that Group C claimants have an average lifetime cost of \$2.3 million (at 2008 cost levels for all Group C claimants living at time of acceptance into the Program).

For most of the payment items, we estimate the future lifetime cost of a Group C claimant based on the average expected lifetime costs for Group A claimants. The only exceptions are as follows:

• Housing – We estimate these costs to be \$131,690 at 2008 cost levels.

- Lost Wages We estimate these costs to be \$21,840 per year at 2008 cost levels, beginning at age 18.
- Medical Review/Intake We estimate these costs to be equal to the actual average costs of Group B claimants.
- Legal Reviews We assume that five percent of the Group C claimants will be deceased when they are accepted into the Program, and for these claimants we have assumed that their future costs will be \$20,000 for legal fees (as discussed in the section labeled Claimants Who Are Deceased at the Time of Acceptance below).

Claimants Who Are Deceased at the Time of Acceptance

As of December 31, 2008, among the 31 Group B claimants (those claimants who have been in the Program for less than three years) there were 4 claimants who had been deceased at the time that they were accepted to the Program. Among the 111 Group A claimants (those claimants who have been in the Program for at least three years) there were 7 claimants who had been deceased at the time of acceptance into the Program.

Generally, we forecast that the mortality experience of Group B claimants and Group C claimants (those claimants who are eligible for the Program but have not yet been admitted) will be consistent with the mortality of the Group A claimants. Further, when we evaluate the actual mortality experience of the Program, we base the evaluation solely on those claimants who were living at the time that they were accepted. Because the Group B claimants include a relatively larger proportion of claimants who were deceased at the time that they were accepted into the Program, as compared to Group A claimants, we adjusted our calculations of future costs as explained below.

We calculated the average lifetime benefits of Group A claimants excluding the 7 Group A claimants who were deceased when accepted into the Program.

- We forecast that the average lifetime benefits of Group A claimants, as calculated as described above, would apply to those 27 Group B claimants who were living at the time that they were accepted into the Program.
- We forecast that the Program would not have any future expenses associated with the 4 Group B claimants who were deceased at the time that they were admitted to the Program.
- We forecast that 5.0% of Group C claimants would be deceased at the time that they are admitted to the Program. The forecast of 5.0% is based on the fact that 11, or 7.7%, of the 142 admitted claimants as of December 31, 2008 were deceased at the time of their acceptance into the Program.
- We forecast that these deceased (Group C) claimants will each have lifetime costs of \$20,000, excluding the costs related to the \$100,000 award discussed below, and that these costs will be in the category of legal expense. The estimated cost of \$20,000 compares to the actual average cost of \$14,000 for claimants who were deceased at the time of their acceptance into the Program. The estimate of \$20,000 may be somewhat conservative (high) compared to the historical average value, but in our opinion this is reasonable and allows for the fact that the claimants in this category could submit a request for the reimbursement of other expenses. We forecast that all of the expenses will be legal expenses; however, changing the expense category that is forecast for these costs is not material.

We have considered the relationship between these claimants, who are deceased at the time of acceptance into the Program, and those claimants who are eligible for awards of up to \$100,000:

8 of the existing 11 claimants who were deceased at the time of acceptance into the Program are not eligible for the award of up to \$100,000, because they were born before July 1, 2003 whereas the legislation that introduced these awards requires a birth date of July 1, 2003 or subsequent;

• For future claimants who are deceased at the time of acceptance, we expect that most will have lived less than 180 days and will therefore be eligible for the award of up to \$100,000 and we have provided for this in our forecast (of the 11 total existing claimants who were deceased upon acceptance, only 2 lived longer than 180 days);

Future Claim Administration Expenses

As shown in Table 1, we estimate \$15.3 million as the present value of future claim administration expenses, for costs associated with the estimated 190 claimants as of December 31, 2008.

The estimate of future claim administration expenses as of December 31, 2008 decreased by \$1.9 million from the estimate for December 31, 2008 from last year's report primarily due to actual claims administration expenses being lower than forecast. Last year, management of the Program estimated that the Program's total annual administrative expenses would be approximately \$1,052,000 in 2008 (\$987,000 in 2007 dollars) of which approximately \$842,000 (80 percent) would be for claims administration. In 2008, actual administrative expenses were approximately \$940,630 of which approximately \$752,504 (80 percent) were claim-related. We continue to assume that these expenses will increase at the future general inflation rate.

Changes in Utilization

A significant factor that underlies the future payments that will be made by the Program is the degree to which the Program's benefits and services will be utilized. Nursing is the major expense, and to a large degree the extent of nursing care is the choice of the claimant's family. Significant increases in the utilization of nursing would significantly impact our estimates.

We provide in our estimates some degree of continued increases in the utilization of Program benefits and services. For example, we use an annual minimum, per claimant, of \$10,000 for

nursing costs (as compared to \$36,338 we assumed in the 2008 Study) and \$2,980 for hospital/physician costs (same as the 2008 Study, adjusted for inflation) in 2008 dollars. We made this change in nursing minimum based on our review of the Program's nursing claim experience which indicates that claimants take longer to reach the minimum levels we had assumed in our 2008 Study.

In addition, we assume that future nursing costs paid by the Program will increase at a rate of 2% per year (as compared to 1% per year we assumed in the 2008 Study) due to increases in utilization of services and benefits. The 2% rate of increase is in addition to the provision for cost inflation discussed in the section on Inflation on page 38.

We examined the reasonability of the 1% rate of increase in utilization for nursing services we assumed in our 2008 Study, given the lower assumed nursing minimum. Our analysis of the claimant data through December 31, 2008 suggests that there has been a 2% annual increase in nursing costs as the claimants advance in age. This increase is over and above cost inflation. This estimate is based on data for which we adjusted all prior year nursing costs, excluding the costs during a claimant's first three years in the program, for the retrospective inflation rate plus an adjustment of 20% for all years prior to 2005 to reflect the one-time increase in nursing utilization in 2005 discussed earlier. We estimated this trend assuming that each claimant had no less than \$10,000 in nursing costs for each year (in 2008 dollars). We reviewed various age groups and combinations of excluding from none to three years of experience after acceptance. We selected ages 6 to 16 and excluding one year of experience after acceptance as most representative of prospective utilization trend. Since we have very little experience above age 16, we note that utilization trend as claimants age could vary significantly from our estimate.

We also note that changes in legislation allow reimbursement for nursing and attendant care by a relative or legal guardian as long as care is not normal child care. The otherwise applicable limits on reimbursable items still apply. We discussed this with management of the Fund and they have not seen a significant increase in such requests for reimbursement. In order to qualify for such reimbursement, the claimant must have a doctor's order for a specified number of hours of nursing care and the care provider must sign a waiver that he/she is physically able to provide the care. The Program pays the prevailing home health aid rate based on market surveys. We

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Method and Assumptions Other Assumptions

have also not seen evidence of an increase in the number of claimants receiving or increasing nursing costs that could be associated with this provision. However, it is too early to tell whether this legislation will have any significant impact. We note that nursing costs could decrease in some circumstances since the wage paid is lower than for a fully qualified nurse. If this provision of the legislation causes payments for nursing care that had previously been provided free and there is no offset for savings from caregivers providing services where nursing professionals (LPNs/RNs) previously provided the care, then costs estimates could increase in the future. For now, we have assumed there is no impact on the cost estimates in this report.

We also introduced this year an assumed maximum level of nursing expense (\$400,000 in 2008 dollars) to ensure that the trended nursing costs do not exceed a reasonable maximum level for 24-hour nursing care. We set the maximum level slightly above the highest level of nursing costs experienced by any claimant since the beginning of the program.

Of course, our data is limited to claimants who are no more than 18 years of age. We do not know how their nursing costs will change beyond age 18. We intend to continue monitoring the nursing costs by claimant age as more data becomes available each year.

To summarize, we make the following changes in methods and assumptions regarding nursing:

- 1. Assumption: We reduce our estimates of future nursing costs per claimant.
- Assumption: We reduce the assumed minimum annual nursing costs from \$36,338 to \$10,000 in nursing costs.
- 3. Method/Assumption: We assume that nursing costs for an individual claimant cannot exceed \$400,000, adjusted annually for inflation.
- 4. Assumption: We increase the assumed nursing utilization increase factor from 1% to 2%.

The net impact of these changes in these four factors is a decrease of \$25 million in our estimates of future claim payments.

Assessment Income

In the "Methodology" section of this report, the subsection titled, "Forecasts of Program's Financial Position Through 2011" beginning on page 63 explains the process that we follow to forecast the financial position of the Program as of the end of 2009, 2010, and 2011. The forecasts of financial position are contained in Tables 2, 3 and 4 of the Findings section of this report. Our assumptions regarding the future assessment income are important elements of these forecasts. These assumptions are discussed below.

The "Background" section of this report provides a narrative history of the assessments. Exhibit 3 of Appendix A shows the history of the assessment income, by program year, from 1988 through 2009.

Participating Physicians and Hospitals

As shown in Exhibit 3, 2009 assessment income is about \$3,507,000 from participating physicians (the equivalent of 626 physicians participating for the full 12 months, each paying \$5,600) and about \$3,546,000 from participating hospitals (there are 38 participating hospitals, each paying \$52.50 per live birth subject to a maximum of \$200,000 per hospital).

For program year 2009, we selected the amounts of assessment income based on two factors, the amounts actually collected through June 30, 2009, and discussions with management of the Program. We recognize that actual 2009 assessment income may vary from our forecast, depending on how many new doctors and hospitals join the program during the last half of the year.

For program years 2010 and 2011, our baseline forecast is that the level of participation by physicians and hospitals will remain at the 2008 level. However, based upon the July 1, 2008 legislation, which became effective with the 2009 program year, assessment income will increase. Based on the assessment schedule shown on Exhibit 2 of Appendix A, we expect that assessment income for participating physicians will grow by \$196,000 in 2010 (which is approximately the equivalent of 650 participating physicians each paying an additional \$300)

and \$65,000 in 2011 (\$100 per physician). For hospitals, assessment income is expected to increase by \$101,000 in 2009 and by \$0 in 2010, due to the raising of the cap on assessments for each of these years. Note that this estimate assumes that some hospitals will continue to be over the per hospital assessment cap.

Non-Participating Physicians

According to information supplied by the program as of June 30, 2009, we estimate that for program year 2009 the assessment income from non-participating physicians will be about \$4,179,000 (approximately 13,930 doctors, each paying \$300).

For program years 2010 and 2011, based upon the July 1, 2008 legislation reflecting no change in assessments, we estimate that the assessment income from non-participating physicians will not increase for 2010 (Exhibit 2 of Appendix A).

Liability Insurers

For program year 2009, the State Corporation Commission, Bureau of Insurance Commonwealth of Virginia has estimated that the assessment income from liability insurers is about \$12,273,442. This amount is equal to one-quarter of one percent of net direct liability premiums written in Virginia, the maximum permissible assessment.

For program year 2010, we forecast that the Program will continue to assess liability insurers at the rate of one-quarter of one percent of net direct liability premiums written in Virginia. Based upon the 2009 assessment value of \$12,273,442 and the insurance inflation rate of 3.85 percent per year, we forecast that this future assessment will be equal to about \$12,745,707 in 2010.

Similarly, for program year 2011, we estimate that the assessment income from liability insurers will be about \$13,236,143.

Methodology

The two prior subsections – Claim Payments and Other Assumptions – provide a fairly complete description of how we estimate the future payments. The purpose of this subsection is to provide some additional details.

Number of Claimants

In this report we estimate the number of claimants based upon: the estimates made in our 2008 Report and the claims emergence during 2008.

In our 2008 Report, we estimated that there would be a total of 150 admitted claimants as of December 31, 2008. As of December 31, 2008 there were a total of 142 admitted claimants.

In our 2008 Report, we estimated that there were a total of 46 claimants, with birth dates on or before December 31, 2007 who had not yet been admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2007, but whom we estimate will eventually be admitted to the Program (Group C claimants as of year-end 2007). We estimated that 15 of these claimants would be admitted to the program during 2008 and 31 of them would be admitted in 2009 or subsequent years. During 2008, there were actually 8 claimants admitted, excluding the "De Novo" claimants, and we now estimate that there will be 38 claimants admitted in 2009 or subsequent years, for a total of 46 Group C claimants, which equals our estimate of 46 Group C claimants as of December 31, 2007.

Estimated Future Costs of Group A Claimants

The Program's database of payment information is "net," after the claimants have collected for any private insurance or Medicaid coverage that they may have. We assume that the non-HMO insurance contracts have lifetime maximum payments of \$1,000,000. Therefore, in order to project the future costs, we need to estimate when the underlying insurance policy will reach the maximum cap of \$1,000,000.

We do this as follows:

- For each claimant, we adjust the "net" losses to a "gross" basis.
 - For claimants with insurance, for the three expense categories covered by insurance, the gross losses are assumed to equal four times the net losses (in other words, we assume that insurance covers 75% of the total cost). For the expense categories that are not covered by insurance, we assume that the gross amount is equal to the net amount.
 - For claimants who receive Medicaid, we make the same adjustment as for claimants with insurance; however, we assume that 80% of the costs will be covered rather than 75%. Therefore, gross equals five times net.
 - For claimants who do not have insurance and do not receive Medicaid, we assume all of the gross costs are equal to the net costs.
- We project the gross annual costs for each expense category, applying the selected inflation rates.
- We calculate when the insured portion of the gross costs will reach \$1,000,000, for the non-HMO population of claimants, and assume that there will be no insurance coverage beyond this point.
- We convert the projected gross costs back to a net basis, based on the assumed amount of insurance coverage.

We then apply assumptions regarding life expectancy and the investment earnings rate to these projected net costs.

The series of calculations that involve converting the expenses to a gross basis, and then converting them back to a net basis, only affects the timing of when the assumed \$1,000,000 insurance cap will be reached, and does not have a material impact on our estimates.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Medicaid Waivers

We were provided with information on the number of claimants with Medicaid waivers and the type of waiver these claimants have from Medicaid. These waivers allow the claimant to receive Nursing benefits from Medicaid, thereby reducing the future claim payments of the Program. There are 15 of the 110 Group A and B claimants currently receiving benefits that have Medicaid waivers. We estimate that they will receive benefits for an average of 7 years, given their current age, before the Medicaid waiver is revoked due to the wage loss benefits that claimants will receive from the Program when they turn 18, thereby causing them to no longer to be eligible for Medicaid benefits.

We estimate that 12% of Group C claimants will be eligible for Medicaid waivers for the 14 years they are in the Program from their age at their date of acceptance, which averages 4 years, to age 18, when they lose the Medicaid waiver.

In each case, we assume that Medicaid will pay benefits equal to the minimum annual Nursing costs we have assumed in our estimates, described below.

Estimated Future Costs of Group B Claimants

We generally use the estimated average lifetime costs of Group A claimants (claimants who were admitted to the Program in 2005 or prior) to estimate the lifetime costs of Group B claimants (claimants who were admitted to the Program in 2006, 2007, or 2008). This implies, among other things, that the Group B claimants will have the same distribution of insurance coverages as Group A claimants. Based on the information that we have about insurance coverages, this assumption appears to be appropriate.

Method and Assumptions Methodology

For claimants who were Group A claimants as of December 31, 2007, the payments made during 2008 were \$8.1 million. In our 2008 analysis we forecasted that these payments would be \$10.6 million. In addition, we have observed that, in 2008, the actual claim payments for Group B claimants (which would include claimants Not Yet Admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2007, but admitted during 2008), were \$2.1 million as compared to the forecast of \$3.7 million. This discrepancy has occurred in prior years, also. As stated in our prior reports, there are two possible explanations for this:

(1) It is possible that Group B claimants will actually have average lifetime costs that are significantly less than those of Group A claimants, rather than consistent with those of Group A claimants, as forecast.

As mentioned above and discussed in detail in the section of this report titled Claimants Who Are Deceased at The Time Of Acceptance (page 50), we have identified a subset of four Group B claimants who have had only minimal costs and for whom no further costs are expected. We have adjusted our methodology in recognition of the fact that the average lifetime costs of Group A claimants would not apply to this subset of Group B claimants.

We do not yet have sufficient claimant history to reach a definitive conclusion about whether the more recent claimants (Group B, but excluding those who were deceased at the time of acceptance into the Program) will have lower lifetime costs than the claimants who have been in the Program for more than three years (Group A).

We note that if (1) occurred, our estimation process will tend to be "self-correcting" as these Group B claimants move into the Group A category.

(2) It is possible that Group B (and Group C) claimants, excluding those who are deceased at the time of acceptance into the Program, will have average lifetime costs consistent with those forecast, but that we overestimated the percentage of lifetime costs that would be paid in 2008. In other words, the issue could be related to the timing of the payments rather than to what the total amount of payments will ultimately be.

If (2) occurred, then the forecasted deficit would nevertheless have been appropriate because an overstatement of the forecasted payments would have been offset by the understatement of the liabilities. In other words, as stated above, this issue would be a timing difference.

We took two steps this year to adjust the timing of payments by year. First, we lowered the nursing minimum and raised the nursing utilization trend, which (compared to our previous method) will decrease the payment projection for the next several years after December 31, 2008 and increase the payment projections for later years. We don't expect this difference to be material. Second, we assumed that housing payments will be made over four years, rather than two years in our 2008 Report.

We do not yet have sufficient claimant history to reach a definitive conclusion on the timing of the payment of claimant expenses. We intend to examine these issues over time, and make adjustments to our assumptions as may be appropriate. In the section below, we describe one such change we made this year.

Method for Estimating Future Costs of Group B and Group C Claimants

Our method applies the following steps:

- 1. We adjust historical payments made to Group A claimants (for example, the payment made six years after acceptance into the program for a claimant accepted in 1992) to 2008 cost levels by applying our selected historical inflation rate for the number of years from the actual date of payment for a Group A claimant (in this example, the payment during the 1998 year) to the 2008 year (a total of ten years).
- 2. We then apply our selected prospective inflation rate to adjust such payments by claimant to the value during the comparable year of payment for the average Group B or Group C payment (for example, the average Group B claimant entered the program in 2007 and will have a similar payment in 2013 (as compared to a typical Group A

claimant in 1998), so we apply a total of five years of prospective inflation for this claimant). We then compute the present value of these payments as of year-end 2008.

- 3. We add to this number the present value of future claim payments for Group A claimants, adjusted by the future inflation rate for the difference between the date of acceptance for each Group A claimant and the actual date of acceptance for Group B claimants (or expected date of acceptance for Group C claimants).
- 4. We adjust the present value computation for the difference between the average date of acceptance for each Group A claimant and the actual date of acceptance for Group B claimants (or expected date of acceptance for Group C claimants).

General Administration Expenses (Other Than Claim Administration)

For the purpose of forecasting the value of the Program's assets through December 31, 2009, December 31, 2010, and December 31, 2011, we estimate the amount of the Program's general administration expenses (other than claim administration expenses). General administration expenses include that portion of salaries, rents, costs of office equipment, and all other expenses not directly related to claims.

General administration expenses are not shown on Tables 1, 2, 3, or 4, because they do not represent a future obligation, or liability, of the Fund. However, in order to forecast the Fund's assets through 2009, 2010, and 2011, we estimate the general administration expenses that will be paid each year and deduct these from the assets that the Fund would otherwise hold.

In total, we estimate that the annual cost of general administration will be \$188,126 at current cost levels. This estimate is based on the Program's 2008 total administrative expenses of \$940,630 of which we estimate \$188,126 (20 percent) is allocated to general administrative expenses. Last year, management of the Program estimated that the Program's total annual administrative expenses would be approximately \$1,052,000 in 2008 (\$987,000 in 2007 dollars) of which approximately \$210,000 (20 percent) would be for general administrative expenses.

We assume that the general administration expenses will increase over time due to inflation (see page 52 for a discussion of claim administration expenses).

Forecasts of Program's Financial Position Through 2011

The method we use to forecast the Program's financial position as of December 31, 2009, as of December 31, 2010, and as of December 31, 2011, is to estimate for each year:

- Assessment income
- Claim payments
- Claim administration payments
- Payments for other administration expenses
- Investment earnings

Then we calculate the assets at the end of a year to be equal to the assets as of the end of the prior year, plus the current year's estimated assessment income and estimated investment income, minus the estimated payments.

Then we calculate the obligations at the end of a year for future claim payments and future claim administration expenses, as equal to the obligations for such future payments as of the end of the prior year (increased by the interest rate to unwind the discount by one year), plus the future claim payments and claim administration expenses associated with the new claimants that will be born during the year, minus the year's payments for claims and claim administration expenses.

The surplus/ (deficit) is calculated as estimated assets minus our estimate of the Program's future claim payments and future claim administration expenses.

Method and Assumptions Methodology

Exhibit 5 of Appendix A, provides an example of our calculations for December 31, 2009, showing how we calculated the values for future claim payments and assets. Note that calculation for assets considers non-claimant administration expenses that are not consider in the liability for future claims administration expenses, but must be subtracted from assets as the expense is incurred.

In performing these calculations, we estimate the claim payments based on our long-term forecasts of claim payments by year. We recognize that, after having estimated the present value of lifetime claim payments, the procedure we use to allocate these lifetime claim payments to each payment year may tend to overstate the amount of claim payments in the early years. However, the impact of this on our estimates of the surplus/ (deficit) is not material.

July 1, 2003 Legislation – Revisited

Our prior reports provided detailed discussions of the anticipated increases to the costs of the Program resulting from the July 1, 2003 legislation. As stated in those reports, there is generally no way to determine how the Program's costs have actually been affected by that legislation. Except for the legislation's impact in two areas, we have not attempted to evaluate the impact of that legislation.

The two areas for which the impact of the July 1, 2003 legislation can be measured are discussed below:

Legal Expenses

The July 1, 2003 legislation provided that the Program would pay the legal fees of unacceptable applicants to the Program. The July 1, 2004 legislation removed this provision of the July 1, 2003 legislation. That is, the Program's requirement to pay for the legal expenses of attorneys who represent unsuccessful claimants is restricted to petitions to enter the Program that were made between July 1, 2003 and July 1, 2004,

In our September 2004 report, we projected \$15,000 to be paid in 2005 for the legal expenses outlined above. As of July 31, 2008, no attorney fees for unsuccessful claimants have been paid by the Program. We realize that such legal expenses could be submitted in the future, but we consider this exposure to be immaterial and have not made any explicit adjustment for it.

Number of Claimants Eligible for the Award of Up To \$100,000

In our 2008 Report, we assumed that the number of claimants eligible for this award would be 10% of the claimants otherwise admitted to the Program. As of June 30, 2009 awards have been granted to a total of 3 claimants. Further, claimants eligible for this award represent a subset of the total claimants who are Deceased on Acceptance, and we estimate this group to be 5% of total Group C claimants. Therefore, we have lowered this assumption to 5% at this time. We will continue to monitor the future payments, both in number and amount, under this provision of the July 1, 2003 legislation.

July 1, 2004 Legislation – Revisited

The legislation that became effective on July 1, 2004, has two effects: (1) it removes a provision included in the July 1, 2003 legislation regarding attorney fees incurred in connection with the filing of a claim which is ultimately not accepted into the Program; and (2) it results in an increase in assessment income beginning with the 2005 program year.

The first effect, the provision that eliminated certain legal expenses, has been discussed in the previous section of this report.

The second effect, the increased assessment income, is discussed in Exhibit 2 of Appendix A.

July 1, 2006 Legislation

We understand that Senate Bill No. 632 and House Bill No. 417 were each passed with effective dates of July 1, 2006.

Senate Bill No. 632 amends Sections 38.2-5010 and 38.2-5013 of the Code of Virginia to permit, under certain circumstances, the filing of a claim for any claimant born between January 1, 1988 and July 1, 1993. The claim must be filed prior to July 1, 2008. We recognize that this legislative change has the potential to lead to the Program's acceptance of one or more claimants who had previously been denied access to the Program. We have considered this in our forecast of Group C claimants, but have not made any explicit adjustment for this legislation.

House Bill No. 417 amends Sections 38.2-5016 and 38.2-5016.1 of the Code of Virginia by revising the eligibility requirements of the Program's investment advisor and by deleting the requirement that the board of directors of the Program consult, semi-annually, with the chief investment officer of the Virginia Retirement System. We have not made any explicit adjustment for this legislation.

July 1, 2008 Legislation: "De Novo" Review (Senate Bill No. 212)

Senate Bill No. 212, effective July 1, 2008, provides that "any claimant who timely filed a claim and after timely seeking and being denied an opportunity to ... confront or cross-examine witnesses and was denied an award of benefits, shall have the right to have the determination against that claim vacated and the claim redetermined "De Novo" (emphasis added) by filing a petition ... on or before July 1, 2009."

There have been a total of three claimants admitted under this legislation and there will be no further claimants admitted under this program since we have passed the expiration date of July 1, 2009

July 1, 2008 Legislation: Senate Bill No. 211 and House Bill No. 1305

Senate Bill No. 211 and House Bill No. 1305 provide for increased assessments beginning January 1, 2009 as discussed in Exhibit 2 of Appendix A.

This legislation also provided for the following:

- 1. In conducting the actuarial evaluation, a loss reserving methodology consistent with the one employed by the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association as of July 1, 2007, may be employed in order to account for individual participant costs and injury characteristics to the extent that the data are available to perform such methodology and the State Corporation Commission's actuary determines that such methodology is actuarially appropriate.
- 2. Revision to 38.2-5008.B: Provides for payments to medical schools of \$3,000 per claim reviewed. We have assumed there is no impact on the cost estimates in this report.
- 3. Revision to 38.2-5009.A.1: Introduces the following language: "reimbursement may be provided for nursing and attendant care by a relative or legal guardian" as long as care is not normal child care. The otherwise applicable limits on reimbursable items still apply. We have assumed there is no impact on the cost estimates in this report.
- 4. Revision to 38.2-5020.A: Revises assessments as per Exhibit 2. This adjustment in assessments is reflected in the estimates of assets for years ending 2009 and subsequent.

Item 1 is discussed in Appendix B. Item 2 is discussed in the Changes in Utilization section on page 52.

Sensitivity Testing

Our forecasts of future claim payments are for the lifetime costs of the Program's claimants. Although the *average* life expectancy of claimants is relatively short, many of the individual claimants are likely to live well into their adult years. Our forecasts, in fact, include provision for the remote chance that an individual claimant lives to age 99. Given the long-term nature of the forecast, the forecasted future claim payments are highly sensitive to slight changes in certain assumptions, such as inflation, interest rates, and mortality. In this section of the report, we show how our estimates of the present value of future claim payments as of December 31, 2008, changes as we vary our assumptions.

In addition, many of the basic assumptions, such as forecasted nursing costs, are subject to a high degree of uncertainty. We provide for some increase beyond the current level of benefit and service utilization, but changes in the level of utilization could be higher or lower than what we assume. It is important, therefore, to consider the potential for the Program's actual payments to differ from our forecasts.

The remainder of this section presents results of sensitivity testing, as well as further discussion of the claim payment categories.

Inflation

Table 9 shows the sensitivity of our estimates, as of December 31, 2008, to various inflation rates:

TABLE 9

	Estimated	
	Future	
Annual	Claim	
Inflation	Payments	Difference
Rates	(\$ in millions, on a	Versus
(Baseline +/-)	present value basis)	Baseline
(1)	(2)	(3)
-1.50%	\$251.2	-\$74.9
-1.00%	272.9	-53.2
-0.50%	297.7	-28.4
Baseline	326.1	0.0
+0.50%	358.9	32.8
+1.00%	397.1	71.0
+1.50%	441.8	115.7

Table 9, Column 2 shows that our baseline estimates of future claim payments is \$326.1 million, corresponding to the amount shown in Table 1. Column 1 lists various departures from our baseline assumptions regarding annual inflation rates, and Column 2 shows how our estimates of the Program's total future payments changes given the indicated departure from the baseline assumptions. For example, the first row shows that if we select annual inflation rates that are 1.50 percentage points less than our baseline estimates, the estimated present value of future claim payments will be \$251.2 million, rather than the \$326.1 million that results from our baseline estimate. As another example, the last row shows that increasing the inflation assumptions by 1.50 percentage points will increase the estimated present value of future claim payments to \$441.8 million.

The higher the annual rates of inflation, the greater the estimated present value of future claim payments. This observation results directly from the fact that we are forecasting claim payments into the future and, therefore, the forecasted claim payments are higher if we assume higher inflation rates.

This sensitivity test only changes the inflation rates. In our actual analysis, inflation rates and the interest rate are related.

Interest Rate

Table 10 shows the sensitivity of our estimates, as of December 31, 2008, to various interest rates used for discounting:

	Estimated Future	
	Claim	
Interest	Payments	Difference
Rate	(\$ in millions, on a	Versus
(Baseline +/-)	<u>present value basis)</u>	Baseline
(1)	(2)	(3)
-1.50%	\$434.0	\$107.9
-1.00%	391.8	65.7
-0.50%	356.3	30.2
Baseline	326.1	0.0
+0.5%	300.2	-25.9
+1.00%	277.8	-48.3
+1.50%	258.3	-67.8

TABLE 10

Table 10, Column 2 shows that our baseline estimate of future claim payments is \$326.1 million, corresponding to the amount shown in Table 1. If we had used an annual interest rate that was, for example, 1.00 percentage point less than the baseline estimate of 6.58 percent, then the present value of future claim payments would be \$391.8 million.

The interest rate is used for the purpose of discounting future payments to a present value basis. The higher the interest rate used for discounting, the lower the estimated present value, all other things being equal. Similarly, the lower the interest rate, the higher the estimated present value. This is because use of a higher interest rate implies that the Fund is able to earn more investment income and, therefore, would need fewer assets as of December 31, 2008, in order to make all future payments. Similarly, a lower interest rate implies that the Fund is able to earn less investment income and, therefore, would need more assets as of December 31, 2008 in order to make all future payments.

This sensitivity test only changes the interest rate. In our actual analysis, inflation rates and the interest rate are related.

Mortality

Table 11, below, shows the sensitivity of our estimates, as of December 31, 2008, to the mortality table that is used:

TABLE 11

	Estimated Future Claim Payments
Mortality	(\$ in millions, on a
Table	present value basis)
(1)	(2)
1999 Table	\$207.2
2001 Table	227.2
2002 Table	237.3
2003 Table	247.3
2004 Table	257.3
2005 Table	275.2
2006 Table	287.0
2007 Table	299.0
2008 Table	311.2
2009 Table (Baseline)	326.1
Blended Table	303.6
Baseline Less 1 Standard Deviation	374.1

Table 11, Column 2 shows that our baseline estimate of future claim payments is \$326.1 million, corresponding to the amount shown in Table 1. Table 11 also shows, for example, that if we had not changed from the 2008 Table, which we used in our last study, the estimated present value of future claim payments would be \$311.2 million, which is \$14.9 million less than our baseline estimate of \$326.1 million. This lower value would still not be low enough for the Fund to be considered actuarially sound. Similarly, use of the Blended Table would have decreased our estimate to \$303.6 million. We note that while the Blended Table has the same mortality rate as

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Method and Assumptions Sensitivity Testing

the 2009 Mortality Table at ages 15 and above, the mortality rate is higher lower for ages under 15. As an additional sensitivity test, we show our estimate of the present value of future claim payments for the Baseline Table with the mortality reduced by one standard deviation. By this we mean, we adjust the 2009 Mortality Table to reduce the predicted number of deaths by 4.43 (equal to one standard deviation). This table produces an estimate of future claim payments of \$374.1 million. We will continue to monitor actual mortality as more data becomes available each year.

We note that the impact of combining several alternate assumptions can result in a higher difference than the sum of each change considered independently. For example, the Baseline Less 1 Standard Deviation Table combined with a 1% increase in inflation would result in estimated future claim payments of \$450.8 million, an increase of \$124.7 as compared to an increase of \$119.0 million (an increase of \$71.0 million for a 1% increase in inflation and a \$48.0 million impact from using the Baseline Less 1 Standard Deviation Table).

Percentage of Insured Claimants Who Have HMO Coverage

As discussed previously, we estimate the percentage of insured claimants who have HMO coverage as opposed to other forms of coverage. Because we assume that HMOs have no lifetime cap on benefits, our assumption regarding the percentage of insured claimants who have HMO coverage affects our estimates. However, the impact of this assumption is not material. For example, if we assume that 30 percent (rather than 16.0 percent) of insured claimants are insured by HMOs, our estimate of total future payments of the Program, as of December 31, 2008, would be reduced by approximately \$1.7 million.

Nursing

This is the major claim payment category, and our forecast of the Program's future claim payments is very sensitive to our forecast of this item.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Method and Assumptions Sensitivity Testing

As shown earlier in this report, in Table 7, we estimate about \$1.6 million per claimant as the present value of future claim payments for this payment category for claimants in Group C. Group C claimants are those who have not yet been admitted to the Program, so this estimate of \$1.6 million per claimant can be considered the estimated present value of a claimant's lifetime costs for nursing care under the Program.

While we have provided for future increases in the utilization of nursing care, there remains significant uncertainty regarding this cost item. Some claimants have little or no nursing costs, whereas others have large nursing costs. For example, during 2008, there were 33 claimants who each had nursing costs that were less than \$25,000, and 9 claimants who each had nursing costs in excess of \$200,000. The largest amount paid on behalf of any one claimant for nursing costs in 2008 was \$319,347. This probably represents round-the-clock nursing costs.

We include in our estimates an explicit provision of two percent per year for future increases in the utilization of the Program's nursing services and benefits. Should the future increase in utilization of nursing services and benefits exceed this level, our estimates of the present value of the Fund's future claims payments are understated. For example, if the utilization of nursing services and benefits were to increase at a rate of three percent per year, our baseline estimate of the present value of the Fund's future payments would increase by about 11.6% (\$37.8 million). This increase is lower than we estimated last year, since we now have implemented the maximum annual nursing costs of \$400,000 (2008 dollars).

Hospital/Physician, Medical Equipment, Incidental, and Prescription Drugs

These claim payment categories are much smaller than the nursing category but, in our opinion, there is also significant uncertainty regarding the future utilization of services. There are a number of questions regarding future utilization. For example:

• Will utilization increase, decrease, or remain level (as we assume) as the claimants age?

- Will claimants require new and more expensive medical services, equipment, and drugs when they become available?
- Will claimants require increasingly expensive computers (an "incidental" cost), as new designs become available that may be especially useful to the impaired population?
- Will administrative controls be in place that will serve to limit the requests for extraordinary costs?
- Will any restrictions be imposed on future Program claim payments?

Our estimates might prove to be significantly understated, or overstated, depending on the answers to the above questions.

Housing, Vans, Lost Wages, Legal, Insurance, Medical Review/Intake

The costs associated with these claim payment categories are fairly well defined and, in our opinion, there is not a significant uncertainty regarding the future claim payments for these payment categories under the current housing provisions.

Numbers of Eligible Claimants

Our forecasts of the Fund's deficit at various points in time are dependent on the assumptions regarding the number of eligible claimants who will eventually be admitted to the Program. Estimates and forecasts of the numbers of eligible claimants who will be admitted are uncertain, for several reasons:

- Claimants can wait for many years before applying to the program, so the number of claimants already born as of any given date, who have not yet been admitted to the Program, is a significant issue.
- The number of eligible claimants born each year is dependent on the numbers of physicians and hospitals participating in the program. Generally, the number of eligible claimants will increase as the numbers of participating physicians and hospitals increase, but the increase in the number of eligible claimants is less than proportional because of the fact that the claimant has to have either been treated by a participating physician or born in a participating hospital. As an example, a ten percent increase in the number of participating physicians would have no impact on the number of eligible claimants if the additional physicians were all working in hospitals that were participating.

Basically, any increase in the numbers of eligible claimants will have a direct impact on the numbers of claimants admitted to the program, and will therefore increase the costs of the program proportionately. Each additional claimant, beyond what we have estimated, will impact the liabilities of the Fund, and increase the deficit, by approximately \$2.1 million.

Background

General

Chapter 50 of Title 38.2 of the Code of Virginia, enacted by the 1987 General Assembly, established the Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program. The Program began collecting assessments in late 1987, and the compensation mechanism became effective for births as of January 1, 1988.

Among the stated purposes of the Program is to assure the payment of the financial costs for the lifetime care of infants born with birth-related neurological injuries. The Program is financed by the Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Fund.

Participation in the Program is optional for both physicians and hospitals. Participating physicians and hospitals receive the benefit of the exclusive remedy provision of the law, and physicians and hospitals that participate are eligible for lower premiums for medical malpractice insurance.

History of Funding

Participating Physicians and Hospitals

Funding for the Program comes from both physicians and hospitals. In addition, the Virginia State Corporation Commission (the "SCC") is empowered to assess liability insurers in Virginia up to one-quarter of one percent of net direct liability premiums written in Virginia if needed to maintain the Fund on an actuarially sound basis.

The original schedule of funding assessments for program year 1988 was as follows:

- Participating physicians paid an annual assessment of \$5,000. (The definition of participating physicians was amended in 1989 to include licensed nurse midwives who perform obstetrical services, either full-time or part-time, as authorized in the Plan of Operation. They have been assessed since 1989, but the number of licensed nurse midwives is not material.)
- Participating hospitals paid an annual assessment equal to \$50 per live birth in the previous year, subject to a maximum assessment of \$150,000.

Beginning with the 1995 program year, the fixed fee schedules were changed to sliding scale fee schedules under which the fees decreased the longer the participant was in the Program. This fee schedule is shown on Exhibit 2 of Appendix A.

Beginning with the 2001 program year, assessments of participating physicians and hospitals were restored to their original level. For the 2002 program year, assessments of participating physicians and hospitals remained at the original level.

Based upon the July 1, 2004 legislation, assessment income to the Program has increased, effective with the 2006 program year (as shown on Exhibit 2 of Appendix A).

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Based upon the July 1, 2008 legislation, assessment income to the Program has increased, effective with the 2009 program year (as shown on Exhibit 2 of Appendix A).

Non-Participating Physicians and Liability Insurers

Assessment income of the Program can be modified in a given year in either of the following two ways:

- 1. Beginning with program year 1993, if the income of the Program is estimated to be in excess of that required for actuarial soundness, income can be reduced by eliminating assessments *of non-participating physicians* in a given program year. The assessment of non-participating physicians was, in fact, eliminated for program years 1993 through 2001. Assessments of non-participating physicians can be reinstated in any amount up to \$250 (or the currently prevailing rate), whenever the SCC determines that such assessment is required to maintain the Fund's actuarial soundness, and the \$250 assessments were reinstated beginning with program year 2002. Effective with program year 2005, assessments for non-participating physicians increased incrementally, as shown on Exhibit 2 of Appendix A, until they reached \$300 in Program Year 2009.
- 2. If the income of the Program is estimated to fall short of that required for actuarial soundness, income can be increased by assessments of *liability insurers* up to one-quarter of one percent of net direct liability premiums written in Virginia. Insurers were assessed an amount equal to one-tenth of one percent of net direct liability premiums written in Virginia for the 1990 program year, and were assessed one-quarter of one percent of net direct liability premiums written in Virginia beginning with the 2002 program year.

Exhibit 3 of Appendix A, presents a history of the Program's assessment income. Exhibit 4 of Appendix A, presents a history of the numbers of participating physicians and hospitals.

Eligibility

To be eligible to receive payment from the Program, a claimant must file a claim with the Virginia Workers' Compensation Commission. The Commission must then determine that the claim meets the criteria for reimbursement from the Program. The original law provided that, for a claim to be paid, all three of the following criteria had to be met:

- 1. The injuries claimed are birth-related neurological injuries as defined in the law,
- 2. Obstetrical services were performed by a participating physician,
- 3. The birth occurred in a participating hospital.

Pursuant to Senate Bill No. 72, the law was amended in 1990 so that criterion 1 and either criterion 2 or 3 must be met for a claim to qualify for payment.

History of Actuarial Studies

An actuarial study of the adequacy of funding of the Program is required to be performed at least once every two years. Mercer RFI (predecessor of Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.) provided its initial funding study covering the years 1988 through 1990 on October 13, 1989. We issued three supplemental reports which modified our original funding estimates, as follows:

- First Supplement dated December 22, 1989: Mercer RFI was requested to confer with Dr. Barbara Brown, then of the Williamson Institute for Health Studies, Department of Health Administration, Medical College of Virginia, Virginia Commonwealth University, to determine whether amendments to the Mercer RFI findings (specifically claim frequency) should be considered. As a result, Mercer RFI revised its estimates of the Program's expected frequency and future claim payments.
- Second supplement dated January 24, 1990: Reflected the opinion of the Virginia Attorney General's office that Medicaid would be primary as respects the Program.
- Third supplement dated May 22, 1990: Reflected the effects of Senate Bills 70 and 72. (Pursuant to Senate Bill 70, the original definition of "birth-related neurological injury" was clarified.)

The recommendation in our initial reports was for the assessment of participating and nonparticipating physicians and participating hospitals, and for an assessment against liability insurance carriers of 0.1 percent of liability premiums for program year 1990.

On March 20, 1991, we issued a report that built on our original work (as amended by our supplementary reports) and provided updated funding estimates for program years 1988 through 1990 and projected estimates for 1991. In that report, we recommended continuation of the

assessments of participating hospitals and physicians and non-participating physicians, and no assessment against liability insurance carriers for program year 1991.

On July 17, 1992, we provided revised funding estimates for 1988 through 1991 and projected estimates for 1992 and 1993. In addition, we evaluated the criteria for actuarial soundness of the Program within the context of the law change effective in 1992, which provided that the assessments of non-participating physicians be suspended whenever the Fund was found to be actuarially sound. We recommended that non-participating physicians and liability insurers not be assessed for program year 1993. Accordingly, the SCC suspended the assessment of non-participating physicians.

On September 24, 1993, we provided revised funding estimates for 1988 through 1993 as well as projected estimates for 1994 and 1995. We also recommended that non-participating physicians and liability insurers not be assessed for program years 1994 and 1995.

An amendment to Section 38.2-5016(F) of the Virginia Code was enacted by the 1994 General Assembly Session. The amendment allows the Board of Directors of the Program to reduce the voluntary participating physician and hospital assessments for a stated period of time after the SCC has determined the Program to be actuarially sound. As a result of this amendment, Mercer RFI was requested by the Program to perform an actuarial study to determine: 1) if the Program was still actuarially sound, and 2) if the Program was still actuarially sound, to determine how much the Board of Directors could reduce the annual assessments for participating physicians and hospitals and continue the actuarial soundness of the Program.

Based on a law change in 1994, and following receipt of our report in 1995, the Board of Directors of the Program implemented a sliding scale assessment for participating doctors and hospitals for 1995 based on the number of years of participation in the Program. This reduced the assessment income from those sources by approximately 65 percent.

In September 1995, we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 1995, and projections for years 1996 and 1997. In that report, we recommended that the reduced schedule of assessments for participating physicians and participating hospitals continue in 1996 and 1997.

In October 1997, we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 1997, and projections for years 1998 and 1999. In that report, we had begun to consider housing expenses as non-liquid assets of the Program, rather than costs. This was based on the decision of the Program to establish trust funds for the benefit of the claimants. In our October 1997 report, we recommended that the reduced schedule of assessments for participating physicians and participating hospitals continue in 1998 and 1999.

In December 1999, we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 1999, and projections for years 2000 and 2001. In that report we observed that, on average, the claimants' mortality was much better than had been expected. As a result, we made a major change to the mortality assumption, which significantly increased the expected costs per claimant. We estimated that the Program was actuarially sound as of year-end 1999, and recommended that assessments for participating physicians and hospitals, and for non-participating physicians, be restored to their full level.

After release of our December 1999 report, we issued an addendum in which we recommended that:

"If the Fund decides to immediately stop providing cash grants for housing (except for commitments that have already been made and for existing claimants who have not yet received housing benefits) assessments would still have to be restored to their full level for participating hospitals and physicians (but not for non-participating physicians), for program year 2001. Given our current assumptions, this would lead to a \$2.1 million deficit for program year 2002 and a \$7.1 million deficit by the end of program year 2003. In order to avoid these deficits, there would need to be assessments of the non-participating physicians for program year 2002 and both the non-participating physicians and the liability insurers, for program year 2003."

Background History of Actuarial Studies

In October 2001, we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 2000, and projections for years 2001, 2002, and 2003. In that report we made significant changes to the estimated number of claimants who would eventually be admitted to the program, to the mortality table underlying our forecasts, and to the estimated future average annual expenses for admitted claimants. These changes all tended to increase our estimates of the Program's liabilities, and as a result we estimated that the Fund was not actuarially sound as of December 31, 2000 and forecast that the Fund would not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2002, or 2003. Among other things, we recommended that the Program continue to assess participating physicians and hospitals at the maximum level and begin to assess non-participating physicians and liability insurers at the maximum assessment rates.

In September 2002 we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 2001, and projections for years 2002, 2003, and 2004. We estimated that the Fund was not actuarially sound as of December 31, 2001 and forecast that the Fund would not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2002, 2003, or 2004. We recommended that the Program continue to assess participating physicians, participating hospitals, non-participating physicians, and liability insurers at the maximum amounts.

In September 2003 we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 2002, and projections for years 2003, 2004, and 2005. We estimated that the Fund was not actuarially sound as of December 31, 2002 and forecast that the Fund would not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2003, 2004, or 2005. We recommended that the Program continue to assess participating physicians, participating hospitals, non-participating physicians, and liability insurers at the maximum amounts, and that means be found to increase the funding level.

In September 2004 we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 2003, and projections for years 2004, 2005, and 2006. We estimated that the Fund was not actuarially sound as of December 31, 2003 and forecast that the Fund would not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2004, 2005, or 2006. We recommended that the Program continue to assess participating physicians, participating hospitals, non-participating physicians, and liability insurers at the maximum amounts, and that means be found to increase the funding level.

In September 2005 we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 2004, and projections for years 2005, 2006, and 2008. We estimated that the Fund was not actuarially sound as of December 31, 2004 and forecast that the Fund would not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2005, 2006, or 2008. We recommended that the Program continue to assess participating physicians, participating hospitals, non-participating physicians, and liability insurers at the maximum amounts, and that means be found to increase the funding level. The major changes from our September 2004 report to our September 2005 report were a revision to the mortality table and an increase in the estimated life-time costs for nursing benefits, both of which increased the estimated liabilities of the Program.

In August 2006 we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 2005, and projections for years 2006, 2007, and 2008. We estimated that the Fund was not actuarially sound as of December 31, 2005 and forecast that the Fund would not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2006, 2007, or 2008. We recommended that the Program continue to assess participating physicians, participating hospitals, non-participating physicians, and liability insurers at the maximum amounts, and that means be found to increase the funding level. The major changes from our September 2005 report to our August 2006 report were a revision to the mortality table and an increase in the estimated life-time costs for nursing benefits, both of which increased the estimated liabilities of the Program.

In August 2007 we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 2006, and projections for years 2007, 2008, and 2009. We estimated that the Fund was not actuarially sound as of December 31, 2006 and forecast that the Fund would not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2007, 2008, or 2009. We recommended that the Program continue to assess participating physicians, participating hospitals, non-participating physicians, and liability insurers at the maximum amounts, and that means be found to increase the funding level. The major changes from our August 2006 report to our August 2007 report were a revision to the mortality table.

In October 2008 we provided estimates of funding for the program years 1988 through 2007, and projections for years 2008, 2009, and 2010. We estimated that the Fund was not actuarially sound

Background History of Actuarial Studies

as of December 31, 2007 and forecast that the Fund would not be actuarially sound as of December 31, 2008, 2009, and 2010. We recommended that the Program continue to assess participating physicians, participating hospitals, non-participating physicians, and liability insurers at the maximum amounts, and that means be found to increase the funding level. The major changes from our August 2007 report to our October 2008 report were a revision to the mortality table, a provision for claimants who have or may be accepted into the program as a result of a "De Novo" review, an adjustment to take into account the impact of Medicaid waivers that pay for nursing related expenses, a decrease in historical inflation rate, an increase in the prospective inflation rate, and a revision to the method to use the estimated future costs for Group A claimants to estimate the future costs for Group B and Group C claimants.

The prior discussion covers the history of the actuarial studies up until this current report.

Limitations and Caveats

Entire Document

The study conclusions are developed in the accompanying text and exhibits, which together comprise the report.

Data Reliance

The data for this study was gathered from several sources, which are detailed in the report. In the study, we relied on the accuracy and completeness of the data without independent audit. If the data are incomplete or inaccurate, our findings and conclusions may need to be revised.

Underlying Assumptions

In addition to the assumptions stated in the report, numerous other assumptions underlie the calculations and results presented herein.

Study Foundations

The study conclusions are based on analysis of the available data and on the estimation of many contingent events. Estimates of future costs were developed from the historical record and from estimated covered exposures.

Statistical Credibility

The statistical credibility of the Program's experience is not sufficient to evaluate all of the various assumptions, such as the number of claimants, the future annual claim payments, and the life expectancy, with a high degree of confidence. If the number of claimants, future annual claim payments, and mortality experience differ significantly from our estimates, then our estimates of the deficit of the Fund may be significantly understated or overstated.

Uncertainty

For the reasons stated in this report, the conclusions contained in this report are projections of the financial consequences of future contingent events and are subject to a high degree of uncertainty. Due to the uncertainties inherent in the estimation of future costs, it cannot be guaranteed that the estimates set forth in the report will not prove to be inadequate or excessive. Actual costs may vary significantly from our estimates.

Unanticipated Changes

Unanticipated changes in factors such as judicial decisions, legislative actions, the operation of the Program, the utilization of Program benefits and services, and economic conditions may significantly alter the conclusions.

Best Estimates

These caveats and limitations notwithstanding, the conclusions represent our best estimate of the actuarial soundness of the Fund and the funding requirements of the Program at this time.

APPENDIX A

Commonwealth of Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program 2009 Update

Selected Ultimate Number of Claims

			Estimated
	Reported	Selected	Number of
	Number	Ultimate	Unreported
Birth	of Claims	Number	Claims
Year	as of 12/31/08	of Claims	as of 12/31/08
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
1988	2	2	0
1989	9	9	0
1990	5	5	0
1991	9	9	0
1992	8	8	0
1993	11	11	0
1994	6	6	0
1995	10	10	0
1996	8	8	0
1997	11	11	0
1998	7	7	0
1999	6	7	1
2000	12	14	2
2001	10	11	1
2002	10	11	1
2003	8	11	3
2004	4	10	6
2005	2	10	8
2006	3	10	7
2007	1	10	9
2008	0	10	10
Total	142	190	48

Commonwealth of Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program 2009 Update

2004-2014 Table of Assessments Participating and Non-Participating Physicians and Hospitals

	Participating	Non-Participating		
	Physicians	Physicians	Hospitals	Cap on
Program	Annual	Annual	Per Live Birth	Hospital's
Year	Assessment	Assessment	Assessment	Assessment
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
2004	\$5,000.00	\$250.00	\$50.00	\$150,000.00
2005	5,100.00	260.00	50.00	160,000.00
2006	5,200.00	270.00	50.00	170,000.00
2007	5,300.00	280.00	50.00	180,000.00
2008	5,400.00	290.00	50.00	190,000.00
2009	5,600.00	300.00	52.50	200,000.00
2010	5,900.00	300.00	55.00	200,000.00
2011	6,000.00	300.00	55.00	200,000.00
2012	6,100.00	300.00	55.00	200,000.00
2013	6,200.00	300.00	55.00	200,000.00
2014	6,200.00	300.00	55.00	200,000.00

Notes:

These assessments for 2009 and subsequent for (2) & (4) are based upon the contents of HB 1305 and SB 211, effective July 1, 2008 (sections 38.2-5020.A and 38.2-5020.C)

Under this fee schedule, the assessment of a new participant is prorated based upon when the participant enters the program during the first year of participation

\$16,014 \$19,705 \$20,709 \$22,129 \$22,678 \$23,422 \$23,506

Commonwealth of Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program 2009 Update

	Assessment Income (000s)																					
Program Year	1988	1989	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Participating Physicians	\$2,034	\$1,898	\$2,026	\$2,205	\$2,030	\$2,068	\$2,014	\$826	\$657	\$723	\$622	\$779	\$699	\$1,755	\$1,645	\$1,834	\$2,335	\$2,509	\$2,937	\$3,223	\$3,377	\$3,507
Participating Hospitals	\$3,028	\$2,861	\$2,838	\$2,194	\$2,185	\$2,006	\$1,730	\$468	\$409	\$467	\$399	\$455	\$379	\$1,905	\$2,256	\$2,298	\$2,731	\$2,753	\$2,927	\$2,676	\$3,373	\$3,546
Non-Participating Physicians	\$2,120	\$2,191	\$2,265	\$2,358	\$2,467	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	\$3,190	\$2,936	\$3,429	\$3,444	\$3,699	\$3,898	\$4,040	\$4,179
Liability Insurers	-	-	\$2,569	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	\$8,043	\$8,946	\$11,210	\$12,003	\$12,566	\$12,880	\$12,631	\$12,273
	1																				I	

\$1,190

\$1,021

\$1,234

\$1,078

\$3,660 \$15,134

Notes:

Total Assessments

 1988 - 1994 includes \$5,000 per year from participating physicians, \$50 per live birth from participating hospitals (\$150,000 maximum), and \$250 per year from non-participating physicians. Starting in 1993, assessments from non-participating physicians were eliminated.

\$6,757

\$6,682

\$4,074

\$3,744

\$1,294

\$1,066

2. 1990 also includes 0.1% of Virginia liability premiums from liability insurers.

\$6,950

\$9,698

\$7,182

3. Assessments for 1995 through 2000 are according to the length of time the participating physicians and hospitals have been in the program.

2001-2004 include \$5,000 each from participating physicians and \$50 per live birth from participating hospitals (\$150,000 maximum).
 2005 includes \$5,100 each from participating physicians and \$50 per live birth from participating hospitals (\$160,000 maximum).
 2006 includes \$5,200 each from participating physicians and \$50 per live birth from participating hospitals (\$170,000 maximum).
 2007 includes \$5,300 each from participating physicians and \$50 per live birth from participating hospitals (\$180,000 maximum).
 2008 includes \$5,400 each from participating physicians and \$50 per live birth from participating hospitals (\$180,000 maximum).
 2008 includes \$5,400 each from participating physicians and \$50 per live birth from participating hospitals (\$190,000 maximum).
 2009 is an estimate, based on \$5,600 each from participating physicians and \$52.5 per live birth from participating hospitals (\$200,000 maximum).

5. 2002 through 2008 also includes 0.25% of Virginia liability premiums from liability insurers.

Commonwealth of Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program 2009 Update

	Number of Hospitals and Physicians in Program by Program Year																					
Program Year	1988	1989	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Participating Physicians *	407	380	405	441	406	414	403	426	403	420	402	444	433	351	329	367	460	492	565	608	625	626
Participating Hospitals	47	42	36	27	26	27	24	27	26	31	30	31	30	25	27	28	34	35	33	31	38	38

Notes:

1988 through 1998 values: from December.

1999 through 2001 values: provided by the Program.

2002 value: calculated by Mercer based upon information provided by the Program.

2003 value: the actual number of physicians, before pro-ration, was 384.

2004 value: the actual number of physicians, before pro-ration, was 496.

2005 value: the actual number of physicians, before pro-ration, was 532.

2006 value: the actual number of physicians, before pro-ration, was 582.

2007 value: the actual number of physicians, before pro-ration, was 629.

2008 value: the actual number of physicians, before pro-ration, was 643.

2009 value: based on discussions with management of the Program, we estimate that the number of pro-rata physicians will be 626 and that the number of physicians before pro-ration will be 650.

* Excludes non-assessed residents. The number of participating physicians represents the equivalent number of physicians in the Program for a full year. In other words,

one physician in the Program for six months would count as 0.5 physicians.

Reconciliation of Present Value of Estimated Future Claim Payments, From 12/31/08 to 12/31/09 (All Values are in Millions)

Admitted Claimants as of 12/31/09

A.	Estimated future payments for claimants admitted as of 12/31/08 (Table 1):			\$223.7						
	<u>Plus:</u>									
В.	One year's Interest on Item A:	\$14.7								
C.	Estimated future payments for claimants admitted during 2009, prior to adjustments for claims paid during 2009:	\$21.6								
D.	Total additions to future claim payments (B+C):	φ2110	\$36.3							
	Less:									
E.	Estimated claim payments made in 2009		-\$16.1							
F.	Estimated value of future payments for admitted claimants as of 12/31/09 (Table 2) $(A\!+\!D\!+\!E)$			\$243.9						
Not-Yet	-Admitted Claimants									
G.	Estimated future payments for claimants not yet admitted as of 12/31/08 (Table 1):			\$102.4						
	<u>Plus:</u>									
H.	One year's interest on Item G:	\$6.7								
I.	Estimated future payments for claimants born in 2009:	\$21.2	*2 0.0							
J.	Total additions to future claim payments:		\$28.0							
	Less:									
К.	Claimants not-yet-admitted at 12/31/08, but admitted at 12/31/09: (valued as of 12/31/08)		-\$21.6							
L.	Estimated future payments for claimants not yet admitted as of 12/31/09 (Table 2): $\rm (G+J+K)$			\$108.8						
 B. Becaus This is C. We mu admitte D. =B + C E. We mu in items F. = A + I G. From T H. Becaus This is I. We mu born as J. =H +I. K. We mu the year 	Fable 1; this is the starting point in our reconciliation of the future claim payments for admitted claimants. see item A was discounted as of $12/31/08$, the discount must be 'unwound' to determine the value as of $12/31/08$, the amount by which the discount must be "unwound." ist add the value of the future costs for claimants admitted during 2009, because item A only includes claimant d as of $12/31/08$. 2. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5	nants nants. 09.								
Estimated Estimated As of 12/3 As of 12/3 As of 12/3	This Appendix is a simplification of the actual process we use to determine the values presented in Tables 1-4. Estimated present value of future claim payments as of 12/31/08 (items A. and G.) is \$326.1 million. Estimated present value of future claim payments as of 12/31/09 (items F. and L.) is \$352.7 million. As of 12/31/08 and 12/31/09, respectively, estimated present values of future claims administration expenses are \$15.3 and \$16.5 million. As of 12/31/08 and 12/31/09, respectively, estimated present values of future claim costs including expenses are \$341.4 and \$369.2 million. As of 12/31/08 and 12/31/09, respectively, estimated undiscounted values of future claim costs including expenses are \$2,229.8 and \$2,424.7 million.									

Present value estimates reflect the time value of money; undiscounted estimates do not refelct the time value of money

Reconciliation of Estimated Future Asset Values, From 12/31/08 to 12/31/09 (All Values are in Millions)

А.	Liquid plus Non-Liquid Assets as of 12/31/08 (Table 1):			\$172.5
	<u>Plus</u>			
В.	Interest to 6/30/09 on Liquid Assets: Assessments:		5.6	
C.	Participating Hospitals:	3.5		
D.	Participating Physicians:	3.5		
Е.	Non-Participating Physicians:	4.2		
F.	Liability Insurers:	12.3		
	Total Assessments (prior to interest accrual):			
G	(C+D+E+F)		23.5	
	Interest Accrual on Assessments to 6/30/08:			
H.	(G*(1.0658^.5-1))		0.8	
	Total Additions to 6/30/08:			
I.	(B+G+H)			29.9
	Less			
	Payments made on 6/30/09:			
J.	Non-Claimant Related:		0.188	
К.	Claimant Related:		16.3	
	Total Payments at 6/30/09:			
L.	(J+K)			-16.5
	<u>Plus</u>			
	Interest Accrual on Assets to 12/31/09:			
М.	On Liquid Assets - from 6/30/09:		6.7	
N.	On Non-Liquid Assets - from 12/31/08:		0.0	
0.	Total: (M+N)			6.7
Р.	Liquid plus Non-Liquid Assets as of 12/31/09 (Table 2): (A+I+L+O)			\$192.6

APPENDIX B

APPENDIX B

Background

During 2007 the Program retained Pinnacle Actuarial Resources ("Pinnacle") to review "a number of potential remedies for improving the financial condition of the Program and reducing the current Fund deficit." Mr. Robert Walling, FCAS, presented his findings to Mr. George Deebo of the Program in a letter dated September 10, 2007. One of the items Mr. Walling reviewed was "The Program Reserving Methodology," and he suggested that use of the loss reserving methodology used by the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association ("NICA") might reduce the indicated future claim payments by \$44.1 million.

In 2008, the Virginia Legislature passed House Bill No. 1305 and Senate Bill No. 211. These bills state:

In conducting the actuarial evaluation, a loss reserving methodology consistent with the one employed by the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association as of July 1, 2007, may be employed in order to account for individual participant costs and injury characteristics to the extent that the data are available to perform such methodology and the State Corporation Commission's actuary determines that such methodology is actuarially appropriate.

In compliance with House Bill No. 1305 and Senate Bill No. 211, in Part 1 of Appendix B to our 2008 Annual Report ("2008 Study") we discussed the differences among (a) the loss reserving methodology that we apply in arriving at our estimate of future claim payments of the Virginia Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Program (which we refer to as "the Program Method," (b) the loss reserving methodology utilized in evaluating the actuarial soundness of NICA ("the NICA Program Method"), (c) one aspect of "the NICA Program Method" in which individual participant costs and injury characteristics are considered, which we refer to as "the Florida Method," and (d) the method used by Pinnacle to reflect individual participant costs and injury characteristics in its 2007 review of the Program, which we refer to as "the Alternate Florida Method." In Part 2 of Appendix B of that same report we discussed Pinnacle's estimated

Appendix B

\$44.1 million future claim payments reduction and reconciled it to our estimate of the Fund's future claim payments as of December 31, 2007 that we presented in our 2008 Report.

This year in Part 1 of this Appendix - as a reminder to the readers - we again discuss the differences among "the Program Method," "the NICA Program Method," "the Florida Method," and "the Alternate Florida Method." We also present what our current estimate would be if we were to apply the Alternate Florida Method.

We do not present an updated reconciliation in Part 2 because, to our knowledge, Pinnacle has not updated its \$44.1 million estimate. However, the Program has, for the first time, provided an estimated life expectancy and Life Plan for each claimant currently receiving care benefits. We discuss our consideration of this new information in Part 2 of this Appendix.

Important Comments

It is important for the readers of this Report and Appendix to understand that there are many differences between the loss reserving methodology utilized in evaluating the actuarial soundness of NICA ("the NICA Program Method") and the loss reserving methodology utilized by Oliver Wyman in evaluating the actuarial soundness of the Program ("the Program Method"). Some of these differences are driven by the nature of the data that is available – such as NICA's use of what are referred to as "loss development triangles" which require data that is not available in the Program. Other differences are a matter of actuarial judgment: in some cases the actuarial assumptions made to evaluate the soundness of NICA are more conservative (i.e., lead to higher future claim payment estimates) than the actuarial estimates made by Oliver Wyman in evaluating the soundness of the Program and in some cases the NICA assumptions are less conservative (i.e., lead to lower future claim payment estimates) than the Program schange over time as more experience emerges.

House Bill No. 1305 and Senate Bill No. 211 address only one of the many loss reserving methodology differences: the use of individual participant costs and injury characteristics. We, therefore, limit our comments to this "single" aspect of the loss reserving methodology used by NICA, which we refer to as "the Florida Method."

Appendix B

There are many differences between the loss reserving methodology that was used by Pinnacle in its 2007 study and the methodologies used by NICA and Oliver Wyman. But the focus of the Pinnacle recommendation is on this same single aspect of the NICA loss reserving methodology: the use of individual participant costs and injury characteristics. However, for reasons we explain in Part 1, Pinnacle did not apply the Florida Method in arriving at its estimated \$44.1 million future claim payments reduction. We refer to the methodology to consider the single aspect of individual participant costs and injury characteristics used by Pinnacle as "the Alternate Florida Method."

PART 1

Consideration of the Florida Method and the Alternate Florida Method

As required under House Bill No. 1305 and Senate Bill No. 211, the Bureau requested that Oliver Wyman review the reasonableness of utilizing the Florida Method and the Alternate Florida Method for considering individual participant costs and injury characteristics in evaluating the actuarial soundness of the Program.

The Program Method – Explanation

As explained in this Report, the loss reserving methodology that Oliver Wyman applies to consider individual participant costs and injury characteristics is as follows (in brief).

- 1. Oliver Wyman groups claimants into three categories: Group A consists of all claimants who have been in the Program at least three full years; Group B consists of all claimants who were admitted to the Program within the last three years; and Group C claimants represent our estimate of the children born on or before December 31, 2008 who were not admitted to the Program as of December 31, 2008, but who will eventually apply and be admitted to the Program.
- 2. Oliver Wyman considers the historical benefit costs, by category of benefit, that have been paid to individual Group A claimants. This is the primary data source for our cost estimates and it reflects how we consider individual participant costs in our analysis. We use this information to project future average annual benefit costs, by category of benefit, for Group A claimants, Group B claimants, and Group C claimants.
- 3. Oliver Wyman considers the injury characteristics of individual claimants, to the extent that such information is available. We review whether the claimants are ambulatory or

use a wheelchair, and if they use a wheelchair we review whether or not they use a G-Tube. We do not use this information directly in our calculations, but we consider this information in selecting a mortality table to apply (i.e., in estimating life expectancy).

4. Oliver Wyman applies a single "average" mortality table for all claimants.

The Florida Method - Explanation

NICA requires that a medical condition assessment and life expectancy estimate be performed by expert physicians for each and every claimant. This information is used to project individualized future benefit costs for each and every claimant. Using a simple example, Claimant #1 may be determined to require annual benefit payments of \$25,000 per year and to have a life expectancy of 20 years; his future benefit costs would be estimated at \$25,000 times 20 years, or \$500,000 (prior to consideration of cost inflation or interest income). Claimant #2 may be determined to require annual benefit payments of \$30,000 per year and to have a life expectancy of 40 years; her future benefit costs would be estimated at \$30,000 times 40 years, or \$1.2 million (also prior to consideration of cost inflation or interest income).

The use of individual claimant estimates including life expectancies is the most important part of the Florida Method, which incorporates the individual medical assessment concepts from the NICA Program Method.

The Alternate Florida Methodology - Explanation

The Alternate Florida Method is the method used by Pinnacle to reflect individual participant costs and injury characteristics in its 2007 study of the Program.

The Alternate Florida Method is as follows (in brief).

1. Pinnacle grouped claimants into the same three categories used by Oliver Wyman: Group A, Group B, and Group C.

- 2. Like Oliver Wyman, Pinnacle considered the historical benefit costs, by category of benefit, that have been paid to individual Group A claimants. Pinnacle used this information to project future average annual benefit costs, by category of benefit, for Group A claimants, Group B claimants, and Group C claimants. Pinnacle provided information that suggests that these assumptions are similar to, but not the same as Oliver Wyman's.
- 3. Pinnacle used actual and forecasted Group A data to project Group B and Group C costs.
- 4. Like Oliver Wyman, Pinnacle considered the injury characteristics of individual claimants, and reviewed whether the claimants were ambulatory or used a wheelchair, and whether or not they used a gastrostomy tube ("G-tube", a medical device placed in the stomach to provide nutrition and/or medicines to patients who cannot obtain nutrition and/or medicines through swallowing).
- 5. Unlike Oliver Wyman, Pinnacle applied one of three different mortality tables to each claimant based on the medical condition of each claimant, i.e., (a) ambulatory (b) not ambulatory and without G-Tube, (c) not ambulatory and with G-Tube.

Discussion

The Florida Method

The Florida Method of reflecting individual medical condition and life expectancy on a case by case basis based on information gathered through individual medical assessments, and the Alternate Florida Method that Pinnacle applied in which past benefit costs are considered and one of three mortality tables was used depending on the nature of the claimant's medical condition that was determined from the available information, are in contrast with the approach that Oliver Wyman applies in evaluating the soundness of the Program in which we consider past benefit costs and apply the same average mortality table to each claimant.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

In our 2008 Report we stated that if additional valid and credible information were made available, we believe the Florida Method would be a more actuarially sound method than the method we currently apply and that it should be used in evaluating the financial soundness of the Program. We also stated that in order for the Florida Method to be applied, additional information, as collected by NICA, must be collected by the Program: (1) a detailed Life Plan for each claimant including expected annual payments by expense item and (2) life expectancy estimates based on individual claimant medical assessments. Further, this data would need to be updated periodically and tested over a period of years for consistency and relevance before it could be fully relied on for this Program. We noted that NICA has maintained such estimates over a period of many years and monitors the changes in these estimates. Testing would include evaluation of the causes of any changes in these estimates over time, comparison to current methodology, exploration of any differences with existing mortality studies and evaluation of the credibility of the results for use in establishing individual mortality expectations.

We have recommended that the Program collect this information in past actuarial reports that we have presented: the Program should

"...obtain more detailed studies of the medical condition of each individual claimant who is admitted to the program and update this information when there are significant changes in a claimant's medical condition." (Pages 15-16 of our 2008 Report)

As discussed in Part 2 of this Appendix, the Program has developed and compiled this information for the first time this year. We present a detailed discussion and analysis of this newly provided information in Part 2 of this Appendix.

"The Alternate Florida Method"

The Alternate Florida Method is a less precise method of reflecting individual medical condition and life expectancy than the Florida Method, and Pinnacle intended it to be used only until the information could be gathered by the Program for the Florida Method to be applied:

"It is important to recognize that these assumed mortalities were intended to be a placeholder until life expectancies for the Virginia children could be developed as part of

more formal life care plans." (an excerpt from Pinnacle's response to questions we had raised)

In our 2008 Report we stated that as compared to Oliver Wyman's use of a single mortality table for all claimants, Pinnacle's use of separate mortality tables has appeal; however, the Alternate Florida Method would only lead to more accurate estimates if the separate mortality tables are more accurate than the single mortality table that would otherwise be used. We further stated that as we have noted in our actuarial reports to the Bureau, the experience of the Program is not sufficiently credible for the purpose of developing a Program-specific mortality table with a high degree of confidence. The Program data is limited, for example, by the fact that there are relatively few claimants in the Program, and in fact the program has no mortality information beyond the age of 20 years. It is for these reasons that we have utilized an external mortality table that we believe is appropriate for the Program to date, and over the years we have changed the mortality table that we use to reflect the emerging experience of the Program.

As we did for the 2008 Study, as a separate calculation and apart from our standard loss reserving methodology (the results for which we present in this Report), we applied the Alternate Florida Method as it was applied by Pinnacle and present the results in this Appendix. We refer to this method as the "Alternate Florida Method" because in applying the method we use three mortality tables that correspond to the same three categories of medical condition that Pinnacle used.

In applying the Alternate Florida Method, we have reflected the Program's claim experience through 2008 and what we refer to as the 2009 Medical Condition Baseline tables. These three 2009 mortality tables by medical condition consider the mortality tables from our 2008 Study and actual mortality experience through December 31, 2008. We note that our mortality tables differ from those used by Pinnacle.

When we apply the Alternate Florida Method with the 2009 Medical Condition Baseline mortality tables (which are internally consistent with our 2009 Baseline Mortality Table and do not consider the newly provided life expectancy information discussed in Part 2) and without changing any of the many other assumptions that we made - we find that our estimate of the Program's future claim payments as of December 31, 2008 is reduced by approximately \$22.4

million. This compares to our estimate of \$23.5 million from our 2008 Report and the Pinnacle estimate of \$44.1 million, which was discussed in the 2008 Report.

This year, for the first time, the Program has developed an estimated life expectancy and Life Plan for each claimant currently receiving care benefits. As discussed in Part 2, this new information confirms our baseline estimate and that we should not reduce our baseline estimate by \$22.4 million.

PART 2

Review of the Program's Life Expectancy and Life Plan Estimates and Their Implication Regarding the Application of the Alternate Florida Method

For the first time, the Program has developed and provided life expectancy and Life Plan estimates for each claimant currently receiving care benefits as we had recommended in our 2008 Report and previous reports:

"Specifically, the Program should produce a worksheet summarizing the detailed life plan for each claimant including expected annual payments by expense item at today's costs and an estimate of life expectancy with the aid of a consultant specializing in pediatric medicine ... this worksheet should consider any expected increases or decreases in required medical care anticipated based on the evaluation of the condition of the children as well as any changes in Medicaid status." (Page 16 of our 2008 report)

Life Expectancy

The Fund engaged Robert Shavelle, PhD., FAACPDM of the Life Expectancy Project in San Francisco, CA (<u>www.lifeExpectancy.org</u>) to provide a life expectancy for each claimant currently receiving benefits under the Program. Dr. Shavelle (the "consultant") outlined the methodology as follows:

"An individual's life expectancy is the average survival time of a large group of similar persons. It is not a prediction as to exactly how long any one person will live. Calculations of life expectancy are standard, and are routinely performed in a number of fields (e.g., medical research, actuarial science, demography, and life insurance). In children with birth injuries, such as cerebral palsy, there are many life expectancy studies in the peer-reviewed medical literature, and several large databases.

The factors known to affect survival include gross and fine motor skills, feeding ability, breathing, epilepsy, visual disabilities, cognitive function, and co-morbidities (e.g., scoliosis, contractures, respiratory problems, other health issues). We were provided this information for each person in the Virginia Birth Injury Fund (see the attached blank questionnaire). Using this, together with the medical evidence on survival of similarly disabled persons and standard scientific methods, we constructed a life table for each person, from which the life expectancy was obtained."

We have reviewed the life expectancies provided by Dr. Shavelle for all Group A claimants, those in the program for at least 3 years. In the following table we compare Dr. Shavelle's life expectancies ("2009 Claimant Life Expectancy – Shavelle") to the ones we calculate from our 2009 Baseline Mortality Table, which form the basis of the estimates of future claim payments presented in this report.

As compared to our 2009 Baseline Mortality Table, the Shavelle life expectancies range from 70% (15.0/21.5) of our average baseline life expectancy for the most severely injured claimants (not ambulatory and with G-Tube) to 261% (56.1/21.5) of our average baseline life expectancy for the least severely injured claimants (ambulatory).

Table 1

Comparison of Life Expectancies @ Current Age of Claimants

	Me	dical Condition	n	
	Amb	Non-Amb	Non-Amb	
	No G-tube	No G-tube	G-tube	Average
	(1)	(2)	(3)	
Life Expectancy Based on				
2009 Baseline Mortality Table				21.5
2009 Claimant Life Expectancy - Shavelle	56.1	31.3	15.0	26.5
Ratio to 2009 Baseline - Average Life Expectancy	261%	145%	70%	123%

Implication of Program's Life Expectancy Estimates on the Alternate Florida Method

In our view, the information provided by Dr. Shavelle offers valuable insight into the prospective life expectancy for claimants, especially for those claimants who reach age 20 and above, for whom the experience within the Program is limited.

However, the use of Dr. Shavelle's life expectancies does not produce a materially different result than our estimates, which are based on our 2009 Baseline Mortality Table. When we apply the Alternate Florida Method using Dr. Shavelle's 2009 Claimant Life Expectancies without changing any of the many other assumptions that we made, we find that our estimates of the Program's future claim payments as of December 31, 2008 is essentially equal to the estimates we present in this report incorporating our 2009 Baseline Mortality Table.

We note that in order for us to use Dr. Shavelle's life expectancies to produce an estimate of future claim payments, we had to convert his life expectancies into mortality tables. Dr. Shavelle actually constructed a mortality table for each claimant, from which he determined the life expectancies. However, Dr. Shavelle could not readily reproduce these tables for our use. Given this constraint, we produced mortality tables ("2009 Claimant Life Expectancy – Shavelle") by medical condition that result in average life expectancies that match Dr. Shavelle's average life expectancies by medical condition as provided in the table above. We believe that the 2009

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Claimant Life Expectancy –Shavelle mortality tables we developed are a reasonable proxy for Dr. Shavelle's mortality tables.

The fact that our application of Dr. Shavelle's life expectancies does not produce a materially different estimate of the future claim costs at this time does not diminish their value. We recommend that the Program engage Dr. Shavelle to provide composite mortality tables by medical condition as part of his 2010 update of life expectancies for claimants in the Program. In next year's study, we will determine what our estimate would be if we were to apply the Alternate Florida Method with the mortality tables provided by Dr. Shavelle, and we will evaluate the reasonableness of using this approach in deriving our estimate.

Life Plan Estimates

The Program provided a Life Plan Estimate for each Admitted Claimant. A Life Plan Estimate is an estimate of the average annual benefit costs. The estimates for each claimant are documented and presented in a Reserve Worksheet that closely follows the worksheet used by NICA. The worksheet includes 21 expense categories (comparable to, but more detailed than, the 12 expense categories that we use in our study).

The worksheet for each claimant shows expenses paid by the Program to date and the Program's projected average annual expenditures over the periods spanning (a) the claimant's current age to age 17, (b) from age 18 to 24, and (c) from age 25 for the remainder of the claimant's life expectancy. In estimating each claimant's Life Plan, the Program generally assumes a continuation of all expenses including nursing costs, which generally follow "doctor's orders" (that is, the prescription for how many hours and what level of nursing care the claimant requires) with the following exceptions:

1) The Program increases the actual 2008 expense costs by 4% for inflation for all categories but makes no adjustments for inflation beyond 2009 except as noted in the following comments.

- 2) The Program projects average annual wage benefits by adjusting the actual 2008 wage benefits by 2% per year for inflation.
- 3) For those claimants currently receiving less than 10 hours per day of nursing care, the Program increases the amount of nursing care by 7 hours per day when the claimant is assumed to reach age 25; for all other claimants, the Program assumes a minimum of 20 hours of nursing care per day at age 25.
- 4) The Program further assumes that when claimants reach age 25 they receive agency care rather than parental care, and makes the appropriate adjustments to the assumed hourly nursing care costs. For years prior to age 25, the Program uses the applicable hourly rates for care the claimant is currently receiving.

Implication of Program's Life Plan Estimates on the Alternate Florida Method

For purposes of comparison of the Program's Life Plan estimates to Oliver Wyman's estimates, we separately review the respective aggregate benefit cost estimates for Group A and Group B claimants.¹

Group A Claimants

For the 81 Group A claimants, that is claimants in the Program for at least three years, the Program's total Life Plan estimate is approximately 60% higher than Oliver Wyman's estimate. There are three reasons for the difference: (1) assumptions regarding cost inflation and discounting, (2) life expectancy, and, (3) differences in annual costs underlying the Life Plan estimates.

Regarding the first item, the Program assumes no inflation beyond 2009 except for wages, for which it uses an annual inflation rate of approximately 2%, and the Program does not discount

¹ We do not believe it to be meaningful to compare the Program and Oliver Wyman estimates for each individual claimant.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

the estimated future claim payments to present value. As a result, the Program implicitly assumes that for expense costs other than wage benefits, the rate of future cost inflation equals the Fund's future investment earnings rate. As we have explained in this Report, we, on the other hand, assume that the Fund's future investment rate will exceed future cost inflation. This accounts for most of the 60% difference.

Second, the Program uses Dr. Shavelle's life expectancy estimates, which affects the Program estimate by approximately 2% and is not material to the comparison.

We note that the first two items explain virtually the entire difference between the Program's Group A estimates and our estimates. Hence, the Program's Life Plan estimates confirm the reasonableness of our estimated future claim payments for Group A claimants.

Group B Claimants

For the 24 Group B claimants, that is, claimants in the Program for less than three years, the Program's total Life Plan estimate is approximately 7% above Oliver Wyman's estimate.

However, as it does for the Group A claimants, the Program implicitly assumes that future cost inflation will equal future investment earnings. After we adjust for this difference, the Oliver Wyman estimate is approximately 50% higher than the Program's estimate.

This difference is explained by our approach to estimating the cost per Group B claimant. As we state in this Report, we generally use the estimated average lifetime costs of Group A claimants (claimants who were admitted to the Program in 2005 or prior) to estimate the lifetime costs of Group B claimants (claimants who were admitted to the Program in 2006, 2007, or 2008). On the other hand, the Program's Life Plan estimate for Group A claimants is approximately 50% higher than its estimate for Group B claimants. Had the Program instead assumed future benefit costs for Group B claimants that are consistent with its future benefit costs for Group A claimants, its Group B Life Plan estimates would be in-line with our Group B Life Plan estimates. We note that a comparison of actual Program expense payments shows that claimants' expenses generally increase significantly after their first three years in the Program.

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

Group C Claimants

The Program is unable to provide Life Plan estimates for Group C claimants, as these are claimants that have not yet been accepted into the Program.²

Closing Comments

Since 1991 the NICA Florida program has been producing claimant specific life expectancies and Life Plans similar to what the Program has just developed. Such a history is an essential component of the Florida Method, which utilizes this claimant specific information. It will take some time before the Fund has sufficient history for us to apply the Florida Method.

The information provided by Dr. Shavelle offers valuable insight into the prospective life expectancy for claimants, especially for those claimants who reach age 20 and above, for whom the experience within the Program is limited. And although we find that use of Dr. Shavelle's life expectancies would not produce materially different estimates from the estimates we present in this Report, we recommend that the Program engage Dr. Shavelle to provide composite mortality tables by medical condition as part of his 2010 update of life expectancies for claimants in the Program. In next year's study, we will present what our estimate would be if we were to apply the Alternate Florida Method with the mortality tables provided by Dr. Shavelle, and will evaluate the reasonableness of using this approach in deriving our estimate.

In our opinion the Life Plan estimates provided by the Program confirm the reasonableness of our current "life plan" estimates. We recommend that the Program continue to provide Life Plan estimates each year so that we can monitor the reasonableness of our estimates and begin to develop the history that is needed to eventually apply the Florida Method.

 $^{^2}$ The consideration of Group C claimants is a much more important issue for the Virginia program than the Florida program since Florida limits late application by claimants.

OLIVER WYMAN

212 Carnegie Center, 3rd Floor Princeton, NJ 08540-6236 1 609 520 2985

Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting, Inc.

State Corporation Commission Bureau of Insurance